

Project no. 310806

Providing a new generation of methodologies and tools for cost-effective risk-based animal health surveillance systems for the benefit of livestock producers, decision makers and consumers

> KBBE Collaborative Project FP7-KBBE-2012-6

http://www.fp7-risksur.eu

Deliverable No. 2.6 Review of surveillance approaches for early detection

WP2 - Detection of exotic, new, or re-emerging disease

Report

Systematic literature review of surveillance systems and methods for early detection of exotic, new and re-emerging diseases

Authors: Víctor Rodríguez-Prieto (UCM) Marina Vicente-Rubiano (UCM) Almudena Sánchez-Matamoros (UCM) Consuelo Rubio (UCM) Mar Melero (UCM) Beatriz Martínez-López (UCM) Marta Martínez-Avilés (UCM) Linda Hoinville (AHVLA) Timothée Vergne (RVC) Arianna Comin (SVA) Birgit Schauer (FLI) Fernanda Dórea (SVA) Dirk Pfeiffer (RVC) José Manuel Sánchez-Vizcaíno (UCM)

Lead participant: UCM

Date: 1-10-2013 Type: Deliverable





TABLE OF CONTENTS

| 1 | SUMMARY | 3 |
|---|--|----|
| 2 | INTRODUCTION | 5 |
| | 2.1 Why is 'early detection' important? | 5 |
| | 2.2 Shortcoming of conventional methods | 5 |
| | Passive surveillance | 5 |
| | Active surveillance | 6 |
| | 2.3 Brief summary of recent developments of new methods and how they approach the | se |
| | challenges | 7 |
| | Syndromic surveillance | 7 |
| | Participatory surveillance | 7 |
| | Digital surveillance | 8 |
| | 2.4 Introduction of the project aims and aim of the review | 8 |
| 3 | MATERIAL AND METHODS | 8 |
| | 3.1 Literature sources and search strategy | 8 |
| | 3.2 Definitions | 9 |
| | 3.3 Study selection and data extraction | 11 |
| | Primary screening | 11 |
| | Secondary screening | 11 |
| | Variable extraction | 11 |
| | 3.4 Data analysis | 13 |
| 4 | RESULTS | 13 |
| | 3.1. Selection process | 13 |
| | 3.2. Descriptive results | 15 |
| | General aspects of the papers | 15 |
| | 3.3. Methodologies | 17 |
| | Specific methodologies found | 19 |
| 5 | DISCUSSION | 23 |
| 6 | CONCLUSIONS | 28 |
| 7 | REFERENCES | 29 |
| 8 | ANNEXES | 32 |
| | ANNEX I. List of the 128 scientific articles included in the review of the surveillance | |
| | systems for early detection of new, exotic and re-emerging diseases. | 32 |
| | ANNEX II. List of variables for the literature review of surveillance approaches for early | |
| | detection | 41 |
| | | |



SUMMARY

Containing the spread of infectious diseases in this highly interconnected world requires effective surveillance strategies for rapidly detecting and minimising their impact on human and animal populations. Early detection is aimed at increasing the likelihood of timely detection of new, exotic or re-emerging threats. Enhancements to conventional surveillance strategies, specifically aimed at early warning, have been developed and implemented during the last decade worldwide. Considerable interest has been posed on approaches to detect health events instead of specific diseases, trying to establish a more generic, cost-effective and timely surveillance. These novel methods, which are mainly risk-based, include the development of technologies to better characterise the patterns of disease presence and spread, as well as the populations and areas at higher risk, in order to prioritise surveillance and optimise resources. Thus, the aim of this review consisted of determining whether and how novel methods for detection of emerging diseases can replace conventional strategies, while increasing the likelihood of early detection and still fulfilling all legal requirements.

Peer-reviewed articles focused on animal health surveillance written in English and published in 1993-2012 were considered. The search of the articles was carried out in CabAbstract and Scopus by a Boolean query to identify the topics of the review. Thereby, 3,507 articles were identified. Three screening rounds were performed to rule out articles according to several exclusion criteria, resulting in the inclusion of 128 articles in this systematic review. Information was extracted according to a list of 44 variables.

Most of the papers considered were published in 2011-2012 (n=62) and focused on Europe (n=57) and North America (n=33). Several diseases were highlighted in the review, as they have been the target of preventive and control measures in previous years, namely West Nile (n=21), bluetongue (n=16), or avian influenza (n=15). Many articles dealt with several wild and/or domestic species (n=25), and cattle was the most commonly targeted host species (n=31), followed by wild birds (n=15).

As for the methodologies described, three categories were mentioned: (i) active surveillance strategies (n=54); (ii) passive surveillance strategies (n=33); and (iii) epidemiological methods applied in surveillance systems (n=69). However, combinations between these three were also frequent (n=25). Risk-based approaches were used very commonly (n=61), especially in papers describing methods (n=45). Half of the papers (n=64) had a scope for multiple diseases.

The two most relevant active surveillance activities found in the review were **vector surveillance** (n=17) and **sentinels** (n=16). The former mostly involved the characterization of populations of midges (*Culicoides* spp.) (n=8) and mosquitoes (especially *Culex* spp.) (n=7), which are major vectors for emerging pathogens. Sentinel surveillance was applied for providing early information regarding susceptible animal species (n=5), periods (n=3) and/or areas (n=9) at higher risk of outbreak occurrence. When both strategies are combined (n=8), they seem to be an effective tool for early warning. As an alternative, especially for developing countries, *participatory surveillance* was also represented in the review (n=8). Although this method has several constraints, it is useful for providing a quick overview of the epidemiological situation of an area and establishing collaboration and communication between different institutions associated with animal and/or public health.

Regarding the passive surveillance strategies, *syndromic surveillance* is the most frequently mentioned approach (n=18). It is a novel and multi-purpose method, which was shown to provide a cost-effective reduction in the detection time, when compared with conventional methods for surveillance. Lack of harmonized criteria to define "syndromes" and exclusion of "false alarms" were found to be the most relevant disadvantages. However, once these limitations can be addressed, syndromic surveillance will be a useful component for integration into surveillance programmes.



In relation to the epidemiological methods, the most commonly used category were **spatial** epidemiology and GIS-based approaches (n=22), most of them risk-based (n=14). Risk mapping (n=6), and in combination with active surveillance activities (n=7), digital surveillance frameworks (n=5) and conventional epidemiological approaches (n=6) were the most frequent applications. A wide variety of **statistical models** (n=14) was also utilised, some of these based on innovative applications to surveillance. **Digital surveillance** (n=12) was presented as a recent framework with many advantages, though it is still in an adaptation phase. Other approaches found in the review included **simulation modelling** (n=8), **risk assessments** (n=7), **scenario tree models** (n=6) and **cluster analyses** (n=5). All of them offer potential to improve surveillance strategies, but several constraints were also identified.

This was the first systematic review of the scientific literature that has considered all approaches and methodologies targeting early detection. This information will be used to inform the development of tools to facilitate the design of cost-effective surveillance strategies in the framework of the RISKSUR project.



INTRODUCTION

Why is 'early detection' important?

In this globalized world, spread of diseases has become one of the most important threats to animal production. Recent disease examples such as the spread of West Nile disease across naïve populations in the United States, the devastating avian influenza pandemic and the appearance of emerging threats such as Schmallenberg virus or bioterrorism agents have highlighted the continuous change in disease patterns, as a consequence of the increase in global population, the intensification of livestock productions and the massive trade. Containing the spread of such diseases in an interconnected world requires new surveillance strategies for signs of an outbreak, rapid recognition of its presence, and diagnosis of its causative agent, together with strategies and resources for an appropriate and efficient response (NCR, 2007). Thus, early detection of these threats is essential not only for animal health and the trade of animals worldwide, but also for the benefit of global public health, in the context of a 'One Health' approach. Early detection (or early-warning surveillance) can be defined as "surveillance of health indicators and diseases in defined populations in order to increase the likelihood of timely detection of undefined (new) or unexpected (exotic or re-emerging) threats" (Hoinville et al., 2013). Early detection of diseases has been the focus of many surveillance programmes in Europe, as detecting the threat rapidly minimises the potential consequences of the disease spread. When there is a failure in early detection of an emerging disease, the consequences may be devastating. As an example, amongst the consequences of the foot-and-mouth outbreak in United Kingdom in 2001 were, apart from the disease in affected animals, the slaughter of more than 10 million livestock in UK and the spread of the infection to France, The Netherlands and Ireland. It resulted in a major economic loss of at least \$12 billion due to the cost of farmer compensation and trade restrictions, as well as various other impacts such as reduced tourism to the UK (Kitching et al., 2006). Clearly, early detection of infectious diseases is the key requirement for being able to respond in a rapid and cost-effective manner to any disease incursions.

Shortcoming of conventional methods

In response to the realisation of the need of early detection of infectious diseases in animals, methods for early warning have been developed and implemented for several diseases. Depending on the methodology used to collect the data, surveillance is generally classified into active or passive approaches.

Passive surveillance

Passive surveillance is defined as "the observer-initiated provision of animal health related data (*e.g.* voluntary notification of suspect disease) or the use of existing data for surveillance" (ICAHS, 2012). Decisions about whether information is provided, and what information is provided from which animals is made by the data provider. In general, it is characterized by the report of clinical symptoms or disease suspicion to the veterinary authorities. Passive surveillance usually also involves laboratory confirmation of specific disease agents and disease reports by veterinarians. The main limitation of this type of surveillance is that it will involve a varying degree of under-reporting, a potentially long time lag between disease introduction and diagnosis and a misdiagnosis due to the use of laboratory test targeted for other specific pathogens (Dórea *et al.*, 2011). The low sensitivity of traditional surveillance is related to its focus on specific and previously described diseases, which reduces the likelihood of early diagnosis of emerging threats. Moreover, the usually poor awareness of the



symptoms of exotic or unknown diseases amongst farmers, technicians and veterinarians further reduces the sensitivity of passive surveillance. However, an important strength of this type of surveillance is that it provides coverage of the whole population at risk. For that reason, many authors recommend the inclusion of a passive component in early detection surveillance systems in order to complement other active methods of surveillance (Doherr and Audigé, 2001).

Active surveillance

Active surveillance is defined as "the investigator-initiated collection of animal health related data through actions scheduled in advance using a defined protocol" (ICAHS, 2012). Decisions about whether information is collected, and what information should be collected from which animals is made by the investigator. In general, it is characterized by targeted and purposive collection of data. The collected information can be both epidemiological (*e.g.* monitoring of susceptible populations) and demographic (*e.g.* collection of data on trade movements).

The probability of detecting the hazard depends on two characteristics: the sampling design (*i.e.* sampling method, spatial and temporal coverage and sample size) and the accuracy of the diagnostic method used to detect the agent in the samples obtained (Thurmond, 2003). Thus, these two characteristics are critical limitations of the surveillance component. In fact, the attributes of the active surveillance, such as precision, repeatability, reproducibility, timeliness, multiple utility and value, directly depend on it.

Another criterion used by the OIE to characterise different surveillance systems is on the basis of the sampling strategy. Regarding this, the following sampling strategies can be considered (ICAHS, 2012): (i) census; (ii) random; (iii) systematic (*e.g.* selected on certain days); (iv) convenient; (v) haphazard; (vi) purposive; (vii) volunteer; (viii) event-related (*e.g.* pre- or post-movement); and (ix) participant recommendation. Another classification could be based on the use of probabilistic or non-probabilistic sampling methods, which can be even more crucial to infer conclusions.

Apart from these, several other active strategies can be implemented, such as sentinels or vector surveillance. Sentinel surveillance is defined as "the repeated collection of information from the same selected sites or groups of animals (*e.g.* veterinary practices, laboratories, herds or animals) to identify changes in the health status of a specified population over time" (Hoinville et al., 2012). These sentinels should represent a larger population of interest and they may be selected on a risk basis, randomly, or on the basis of convenience or compliance. Vector surveillance consists of the continuous monitoring of vector populations, mainly mosquitoes and ticks, responsible for the transmission of infectious diseases. Vector surveillance, when supported by robust eco-climatic baseline data, may offer capability for early detection of pathogens in a specific area.

Historically, animal disease surveillance activities have focused on measuring the effects of endemic diseases or early detection of exotic disease introduction. However, these unifocal surveillance efforts, aimed at specific threats, are not particularly effective at detecting new diseases (Tataryn *et al.*, 2007). Most of the current surveillance systems are poorly sensitive and therefore result in delayed detection of emerging infectious diseases, which by definition are unexpected and may be caused by unusual and previously unknown pathogens. Timeliness, referred to as "the difference between the onset of an outbreak and the discovery of the outbreak" (Wagner *et al.*, 2001) is also often an issue, especially for highly contagious diseases, such as SARS or pandemic influenza (Morse, 2012). Other issues include the high costs and low sensitivity of random active surveillance and the frequent need to combine passive surveillance with an active surveillance component to improve the ability to detect hazards early. For these reasons, the scientific community is focusing on developing more cost-effective systems to improve surveillance.



In recent years, approaches have been developed to solve the limitations of traditional surveillance. This emerging need for efficient and cost-effective surveillance systems has led to the risk-based selection of hazards and screening of populations at increased risk (Stärk *et al.*, 2006). This concept of 'risk-based surveillance' offers a more efficient approach for early detection and management of diseases in order to prioritise efforts and optimise resources (Stärk *et al.*, 2006). Other developments include new technologies and tools that allow better characterisation of the spatial and temporal patterns of the disease presence and spread, as well as the design of new strategies to improve the current surveillance systems.

Brief summary of recent developments of new methods and how they approach these challenges

Considerable interest in recent years has focused on the detection of health events, rather than specific diseases, as a pathway to more generic and timely surveillance (Morse, 2012). This strategy is especially aimed at improving sensitivity and timeliness, with the goal of near real-time detection. In the past years, several developments have helped to move this goal closer to reality (Morse, 2012). These include 'syndromic surveillance', the evolution of 'digital surveillance', the development of new enabling technologies in communication and diagnostics and the enhancement of 'participatory surveillance'.

Syndromic surveillance

Syndromic surveillance systems use pre-diagnostic information, often available in electronic health databases from different sources, with the premise that such pre-diagnostic information may provide earlier indications of a disease outbreak rather than waiting for a confirmed diagnosis (Babin, 2010). While syndromic surveillance shows great promise and may provide valuable information that would be missed by conventional systems, there is still a need for evaluation of these systems to understand how they can best contribute to achieving surveillance aims, which data are better for which situations, how to interpret these data and how these sources can be combined to provide a more accurate or complete picture and context (Morse, 2012).

Syndromic surveillance can be designed to minimize the main limitations of passive surveillance methods based on laboratory confirmation and disease reports by clinicians (Dórea *et al.*, 2011). The advantages of this surveillance system are comprehensive coverage of many diseases within a single monitoring system, detection of potential emerging diseases, maximizing the value of existing data sources, integration of public health with veterinary data, development of new analytical methods, technological innovation, flexibility in the type of data available and desired system outcome, encouraging stakeholder participation and an increase in negative reporting (Dórea *et al.*, 2011).

Participatory surveillance

Participatory surveillance is understood as an approach in which stakeholders are involved to identify and solve their problems. Using participatory methods in animal health surveillance systems gives owners an important role in describing, analysing and planning animal health tasks. This surveillance methodology presents several advantages, such as (i) direct involvement of people who can rapidly detect the hazards in the livestock due to their technical knowledge; (ii) it includes social aspects of the diseases; (iii) it allows the integration of different sources of information; (iv) it is relatively easy to implement; (v) it is risk-based in the sense that it uses a risk-based sampling approach that prioritises high-risk sites, especially for early detection purposes; (vi) it is a flexible qualitative approach that



allows for the discovery of new un-expected threats (Mariner *et al.*, 2011); and (vii) it helps reducing public costs as it is performed by private actors mostly on a voluntary basis. For these reasons, participatory surveillance is an emerging approach being implemented particularly for infectious diseases mainly in some developing countries, where it is essential to cost-effectively prioritise resources. Participatory approaches can therefore be used to improve and complement the quality of data obtained through active surveillance. Thus, prioritisation of diseases and sampling locations can increase the sensitivity of methods and improve timeliness, which are key factors in early detection of hazards.

<u>Digital surveillance</u>

Although there is no precise definition of the term, it broadly includes the use of the internet and computer technologies for collecting and processing health information, including outbreak reports and surveillance data (Morse, 2012). Digital surveillance systems have the advantage of fulfilling numerous basic criteria for early detection of infectious diseases: usefulness, simplicity of the operational phase, flexibility, data quality dependent on source databases, acceptability and timeliness. Digital systems can integrate a great amount of real-time information of various nature and origins, providing outputs that allow assessment of the risk of occurrence of a specific threat.

Introduction of the project aims and aim of the review

In recent years new epidemiological methodologies have been developed to overcome some of the difficulties mentioned above. However, these novel methods are not sufficiently recognised to become a standard component of current internationally recognized surveillance systems. Thus, the RISKSUR project was initiated in order "to find efficient and practical solutions taking advantage of the novel scientific methodologies" and "to define frameworks and integrated tools that allow the design and implementation of epidemiological and economically optimized animal health surveillance systems". The project aims "to develop decision support tools for the design of cost-effective risk-based surveillance systems that integrate the most recent advances in epidemiological methodologies" for three different surveillance objectives: 1) early detection of animal disease, 2) demonstration of reedom from animal disease, and 3) determination of disease frequency and detection of cases of endemic animal disease.

This systematic review is a first step towards addressing the surveillance objective for 'early detection of animal diseases'. The aim of this review is to "determine whether and where conventional strategies can be replaced by novel methods that overcome the limiting aspects of conventional methods, by improving the likelihood of early detection of emerging diseases and still fulfilling the legal requirements to the same extent as the established conventional methods". Where appropriate, gaps in methodological concepts shall be identified that can be targeted by new developments.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Literature sources and search strategy

The systematic review was aimed at scientific articles on current surveillance methods, systems and approaches. The RISKSUR partners developed an approach based on systematic search of public databases using keywords of general interest for surveillance data analysis and specific keywords for each work package (WP): early detection of new, exotic and re-emergent diseases (WP2), demonstration of freedom from disease (WP3) and prevalence estimation for endemic diseases (WP4).



The search for peer-reviewed articles was performed in CabAbstract and Scopus. It was restricted to articles written in English and published during the last 20 years (*i.e.* 1993-2013) in SCI (Scientific Citation Information, available at http://www.sci-thomsonreuters.org/) journals.

A list of keywords was combined into a Boolean query to identify the topics of this review, namely: (i) <u>general theme (surveillance)</u>, (ii) <u>exotic and emerging diseases</u>, (iii) <u>early detection</u>, and (iv) <u>novel</u> <u>methodologies</u> (Table 1). These terms were searched for in the title and abstract.

Table 1. List of terms used for the database search for WP2.

| Торіс | Search terms |
|----------------------------|---|
| | surveillance OR monitor* |
| | AND |
| | animal* OR livestock OR veterinar* OR fish* OR wildlife OR "food system*" |
| <u>General theme</u> | OR herd* OR farm* OR cattle OR cow* OR bovine OR ruminant* OR pig* OR |
| <u>(surveillance)</u> | porcine OR swine OR sheep OR goat* OR poultry OR bird* OR avian OR |
| | horse OR equine OR equid* OR cat* OR dog* |
| | AND |
| | disease* OR health OR infection* OR outbreak |
| | AND |
| Exotic and emerging | avatic OP amara* |
| <u>diseases</u> | exolic OIX emerg |
| | AND |
| Early detection | "early warning" OR "early detection" |
| | AND |
| <u>Novel methodologies</u> | syndromic OR participatory OR sentinel OR scanning |

Definitions

Definitions are extracted from the report 'Animal health surveillance terminology- summary of key definitions from final report - November 2012', a workshop held to discuss the terminology used in animal health surveillance with the aim of standardizing the information between research groups, stakeholders and decision-makers (ICAHS, 2012).

• <u>Threat</u>: the hazard or infectious disease which can potentially affect a susceptible population and spread between individuals and herds. Depending on the spread of the hazard along populations, the health and economic consequences are variable.

• Pattern of disease occurrence:

- ✓ **Endemic**: a disease that is known to be present in the population of interest.
- ✓ **Sporadic**: a known disease which occurs intermittently in an irregular or haphazard pattern.
- ✓ Exotic: a previously defined (known) disease that crosses political boundaries to occur in a country or region in which it is not currently recorded as present.
- ✓ **Re-emerging**: a previously defined (known) disease that is currently either absent or present at a low level, in the population in a defined geographical area that re-appears or significantly increases in prevalence.
- New (emerging): a previously undefined (unknown) disease or condition, which may result from the evolution or change in an existing pathogen or parasite causing a change of strain, host range, vector, or an increase in pathogenicity; or may be the occurrence of any other previously undefined condition.



- <u>Surveillance</u>: the systematic, continuous or repeated, measurement, collection, collation, analysis, interpretation and timely dissemination of animal health and welfare related data from defined populations, essential for describing health hazard occurrence and to contribute to the planning, implementation, and evaluation of risk mitigation measures.
- <u>Risk-based surveillance</u>: use of information about the probability of occurrence and the magnitude of the biological and/or economic consequence of health hazards to plan, design or interpret the results obtained from surveillance systems. Risk-based surveillance can include one or several of the following four approaches:
 - *Risk-based prioritisation*: determining which hazards should be selected for surveillance based on information about the probability of their occurrence and the extent of biologic and/or economic consequence of their occurrence.
 - *Risk-based requirement*: use of prior or additional information about the probability of hazard occurrence to revise the surveillance intensity required to achieve the stated surveillance purpose.
 - ✓ Risk-based sampling: designing a sampling strategy to reduce the cost or enhance the accuracy of surveillance by preferentially sampling strata (e.g. age groups or geographical areas) within the target population that are more likely to be exposed, affected, detected, become affected, transmit infection or cause other consequences (e.g. large economic losses or trade restrictions).
 - *Risk-based analysis*: use of prior or additional information about the probability of hazard occurrence, including contextual information and prior likelihood of disease, in the analysis of surveillance data to revise conclusions about disease status.
- <u>Sentinel surveillance</u>: the repeated collection of information from the same selected sites or groups of animals (*e.g.* veterinary practices, laboratories, herds or animals) to identify changes in the health status of a specified population over time. These sentinels should act as a proxy for the larger population of interest; they may be selected on the basis of risk but can also be selected randomly or on the basis of convenience or compliance.
- Participatory surveillance/expert opinion: participatory surveillance explores traditional information networks by using participatory rural appraisal methods such as ranking, scoring and visualising techniques to conduct risk-based, hazard-specific surveillance. The approach uses semi-structured interviews with key informants to enable communities to provide their knowledge regarding health events, risks, impacts and control opportunities by gathering qualitative health data from defined populations. The analysis of participatory data emphasises the comparison of information obtained from multiple informants using a variety of techniques to obtain the most likely interpretation of events. The objective is to enhance sensitivity by identifying cases based on a clinical case definition; these may then be evaluated and confirmed using rapid tests in the field or laboratory diagnostics. Conventional epidemiological investigation techniques can be used to evaluate and confirm outbreaks detected by participatory surveillance as part of trace-back and forwards.
- <u>Syndromic surveillance</u>: surveillance that uses health-related information (clinical signs or other data) that may precede or substitute for formal diagnosis; this information may be used to indicate a sufficient probability of a change in the health of the population to deserve further investigation or to enable a timely assessment of the impact of health threats which may require action. This type of surveillance is not usually focused on a particular threat and can be used to detect a variety of diseases or pathogens including new (emerging) diseases, so it is particularly applicable for early warning surveillance.



Study selection and data extraction

After a first screening for exclusion of articles not published in peer-reviewed journals, two more screenings were performed to apply primary and secondary exclusion criteria, in order to select articles relevant for the purposes of this review. These two later screenings were called 'primary' and 'secondary' and are described below as such.

Primary screening

The first screening was based on title and abstract, and consisted of the exclusion of papers that fulfilled at least one of the following criteria:

• General criteria:

- ✓ The paper does not focus on animal health.
- ✓ The paper does not focus on surveillance as defined for this project.
- ✓ The paper focuses more on control measures than on surveillance.
- ✓ The paper is only descriptive (historical trend of the disease, pathogenicity...).
- \checkmark The paper is a general review of a particular disease.
- \checkmark The paper focuses on experimental infections.
- ✓ The paper is a case report.
- ✓ The paper focuses on molecular characterizations of a pathogen.
- ✓ The paper focuses on diagnostic test evaluations.
- ✓ The paper focuses on the evaluation of vaccine efficacy.

<u>Criteria for WP2</u>:

- ✓ The paper does not focus on early detection.
- \checkmark The disease is endemic in the study area.
- ✓ The paper focuses on early detection of new species rather than of new diseases.
- ✓ The paper focuses on the early detection of antimicrobial resistance.

<u>Secondary screening</u>

The remaining selected papers were assessed for eligibility by five reviewers, who reviewed different sets of articles independently, but following common criteria and reaching an agreement that was exercised and improved. Thus, these reviewers selected the eligible articles by reading the full text and applying the following <u>secondary exclusion criteria</u>:

- Insufficient information provided to allow the evaluation of described methods;
- No surveillance design/methods described;
- The paper is a general review of a group of diseases (arboviroses, diseases of wildlife...);
- The paper is a general review of method(s) for surveillance (*e.g.* reviewing the use of participatory surveillance in a generalist way);
- Any of the primary exclusion criteria that was not apparent from reading the titles and abstracts only.

Variable extraction

A framework for data collection, based on harmonized data extraction protocols, was constructed in collaboration with members of WP 3 and 4. A list of the 44 selected variables was defined (Annex II).

Certain variables deserve further clarification:



- Disease/threat: we attempted to group threats or diseases in order to facilitate their analysis (*e.g.* certain papers dealt with avian influenza A; in the variable "General" we indicated avian influenza, while in the variable "Specific" we defined avian influenza A).
- Disease status in the study area: we used the categories defined above (see "Material and methods – Definitions – Patterns of disease occurrence") with some modifications. We grouped the categories "Emerging" and "Re-emerging" together, since their nature in terms of disease surveillance is comparable. The category "New" was redefined as "Exotic" or "Emerging" depending on its absence or presence in the study area, respectively. However, we included the category "Suspected" (*i.e.* probably present but not detected nor confirmed yet).
- Type of approach specific: we defined categories for each of the three main groups of methodologies found in the papers:
 - o "Methods":
 - "Statistical model": including regression analyses, Bayesian modelling...
 - "Simulation model": mathematical models to simulate disease epidemics (and their potential consequences) (*e.g.* SIR models, Monte Carlo models, agent-based models).
 - "Risk assessment": models characterizing the likelihood of exposure and/or release of threats given certain risk pathways.
 - "Scenario tree model": definition of a structure of nodes and branches representing all
 possible risk pathways and scenarios for the evaluation of surveillance systems.
 - Note: risk assessments and scenario tree models may have the same conceptual structure (*i.e.* tree-like, use of distribution for probabilities), but they have different aims.
 - "Cluster analysis": study of the spatial and/or temporal pattern of disease transmission, based on different methods.
 - "Environmental model": models predicting climatic and environmental factors affecting diseases. These factors may be related to the diseases or pathogens directly (*e.g.* effect on the incubation period or the resistance of the pathogen in the environment) or indirectly (*e.g.* effect on the vector population dynamics or movements).
 - "Spatial epidemiology (GIS)": spatial epidemiological approaches, especially those that are GIS-based.
 - "Digital surveillance" (see definition above).
 - "Literature review": search for and subsequent variable extraction from a subset of scientific documents (*e.g.* SCI journal articles, proceedings, reports, technical documents...) dealing with a specific topic.
 - "Others": any other approaches not included in the categories mentioned above.
 - o "Active":
 - "Serosurvey": search for antibodies against a specific pathogen.
 - "Pathogen determination": search for a specific pathogen (or its antigens or nucleic acids).
 - "Sentinels" (see definition above).
 - "Vector surveillance": search for vectors implied in transmission of diseases.
 - "Participatory" (see definition above).
 - "Others": any other approaches not included in the categories mentioned above.
 - o Passive:
 - "Clinical investigation": monitoring of clinical signs compatible with disease(s).



- "Death investigation": monitoring of an unexpected or increased mortality rate.
- "Syndromic" (see definition above).
- "Parameter monitoring": screening of biological indicators (*e.g.* animal temperature, animal activity...).
- "Others": approaches not included in the categories mentioned above.
- Risk-based category: one of the four risk-based categories (or a combination of several) was chosen, namely "risk-based prioritisation", "risk-based requirement", "risk-based sampling", and "risk-based analysis".
- Surveillance nature: this variable was related to the target of surveillance, in terms of a "single" hazard or several. If the latter was the case, two options had to be considered:
 - "General": when the surveillance system was targeted towards a specific purpose, but not to any specific hazard.
 - "Multi-objective": when the mentioned system was focused towards more than one specified hazard.
- Data source: we considered "Primary" when the data were obtained in the same study, and "Secondary" when the authors used data from other studies or sources. Sometimes data used for the study included "Both" categories.

The relevant information was extracted from the articles and stored in an Excel database. Once all articles had been read, a cross-checking was performed in order to ensure harmonization of criteria.

Data analysis

Descriptive analyses of the data collected were performed. Variables were analysed separately and where appropriate in combination, in order to obtain maximum amount of information from the articles.

RESULTS

Selection process

The search in the scientific databases returned 3,507 articles, but 324 of those were not considered since they were not published in SCI journals. Thus, 3,183 papers remained after the first screening. Applying the primary criteria, 308 papers were selected (*i.e.* there was an approximate inclusion rate = 1/10). The process resulted in **271 articles** obtained in electronic format (Adobe PDF) either through download from the World Wide Web or through e-mail request from the corresponding authors. Upon review of these articles, other 73 papers were excluded due to the primary exclusion criteria, which were not obvious from title and abstract.

The two most frequently used exclusion criteria after this screening were "The paper is a general review of method(s) for surveillance" (n=27) and "The paper is a general review of a group of diseases" (*e.g.* arboviroses, diseases of wildlife...) (n=22). Other papers were excluded because there was "Insufficient information to allow evaluation of method(s) described" (n=12) or "No surveillance design/methods described" (n=9). In total, 70 papers were excluded based on the secondary criteria, meaning that the information provided was not appropriate for the purpose of this review. The frequency of the exclusion criteria used for the whole process is listed below (Table 2).



Table 2. Frequency and proportion of use of each exclusion criteria.

| Exclusion criteria | Count | Percentage |
|---|-------|------------|
| The paper is a general review of method(s) for surveillance | 27 | 18.88% |
| The paper is a general review of a group of diseases | 22 | 15.38% |
| The paper does not focus on animal health | 14 | 9.79% |
| Insufficient information to allow evaluation of method described | 12 | 8.39% |
| No surveillance design/methods described | 9 | 6.29% |
| The paper does not focus on surveillance as defined for this project | 8 | 5.59% |
| The disease is endemic in the study area | 7 | 4.90% |
| The paper focuses more on control measures than on surveillance | 7 | 4.90% |
| The paper focuses on molecular characterizations of a pathogen | 7 | 4.90% |
| The paper is only descriptive (historical trend of the disease, | 7 | 4 0.0% |
| pathogenicity) | 1 | 4.90% |
| The paper is a general review of a particular disease | 6 | 4.20% |
| Any of the primary exclusion criteria that were not apparent from | 6 | 4 20% |
| reading the title and abstracts only | 0 | 4.20% |
| The year of publication is before 1992 | 3 | 2.10% |
| The paper focuses on experimental infections | 3 | 2.10% |
| The paper focuses more on control measures than on surveillance. | 2 | 1.40% |
| The paper focuses on diagnostic test evaluations | 2 | 1.40% |
| The papers focuses on the early detection of antimicrobial resistance | 1 | 0.70% |

Finally, 143 articles out of the 271 were excluded, which means variables from 128 articles were collected. (Annex I) (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Flowchart summarising the article selection process.



Descriptive results

Most of papers included in the review were research articles (n=102), although we also included poster proceedings (n=13), reviews (n=6), reports (n=4) and oral communication proceedings (n=4). The majority of the articles were published after 2005, particularly in 2011 (n=35) and 2012 (n=27) (Figure 2). It is important to note that 16 of the 35 papers considered in 2011 (*i.e.* all the 13 posters and 3 out of the 4 oral communications) belong to the proceedings of the ICAHS 2011, namely *Epidémiologie et Santé Animal* volume 59-60.



Figure 2. Distribution of the number of papers included in the review by year of publication. The bar in pink represents the papers reviewed in 2011 published in *Epidémiologie et Santé Animal* volume 59-60.

General aspects of the papers

There were four diseases or categories of threats that might be highlighted: West Nile (n=21), bluetongue (n=16), avian influenza (n=15), other emerging and/or re-emerging diseases (not specified) (n=7). In addition, 40 articles dealt with several diseases (*i.e.* not included in any category) (Table 3).

| Diseases | Count | Zoonotic | Considered disease status in the study areas |
|--|-------|----------|--|
| West Nile fever | 21 | Yes | Emg, Ex |
| Bluetongue | 16 | No | Emg, Ex |
| Avian influenza | 15 | Yes | Emg, Ex |
| Rift Valley Fever | 5 | Yes | End, Emg, Ex, Sus |
| Foot-and-mouth disease | 3 | No | Ex |
| Abortions | 2 | Yes/No | NA |
| Arboviral diseases | 2 | Yes | End, Emg, Ex |
| Classical swine fever | 2 | No | Ex |
| Lyme disease | 2 | Yes | Emg |
| Salmonellosis | 2 | Yes | Emg, Ex |
| African swine fever | 1 | No | Ex |
| Bovine spongiform encephalopathy | 1 | Yes | ND |
| Bovine tuberculosis | 1 | Yes | Emg |
| Eosinophilic meningitis (angiostrongyliasis) | 1 | Yes | Emg |
| Epizootic hemorrhagic disease | 1 | No | Ex |

| | Table 3. | Diseases | studied in t | he articles | , grouped p | per general | category of | disease. |
|--|----------|----------|--------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|----------|
|--|----------|----------|--------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|----------|

End: endemic; Emg: emerging; Ex: exotic; Sus: suspected; NA: not applicable; ND: no defined



| Diseases | Count | Zoonotic | Considered disease status in the study areas |
|--|-------|----------|--|
| Erysipelosis | 1 | Yes | ND |
| Japanese encephalitis | 1 | Yes | Emg |
| Pigeon paramyxovirus | 1 | No | Emg |
| Rabies | 1 | Yes | Emg |
| St. Louis encephalitis | 1 | Yes | Emg |
| Usutu virus | 1 | Yes | Emg |
| Other emerging and/or re-emerging diseases | 7 | Yes/No | |
| Several diseases | 40 | Yes/No | |
| Total | 128 | | - |

End: endemic; Emg: emerging; Ex: exotic; Sus: suspected; NA: not applicable; ND: no defined

As for the location of the studies, the main findings are summarized below (Table 4).

| Continent | Count | Most relevant disease(s) or category(ies) of threat |
|-------------------|-------|---|
| Africa | 9 | Rift Valley fever (n=3), several diseases (n=5) |
| North America | 33 | West Nile (n=9), several diseases (n=12) |
| Central America 1 | | West Nile (n=1) |
| South America | 3 | Avian influenza (n=2) |
| Asia | 9 | Avian influenza (n=2), several diseases (n=3) |
| Europe | 57 | Bluetongue (n=15), West Nile (n=11), avian influenza (n=9), several diseases (n=12) |
| Oceania | 5 | Foot-and-mouth disease (n=2) |
| World | 5 | Emerging and/or re-emerging diseases (n=2) |
| (Not applicable) | 1 | |
| (No data) | 5 | |

| Table 4, Fred | mency of studies | s by target diseas | es in different rec | ions of the world. |
|---------------|--------------------|---------------------|---------------------|--------------------|
| 14010 111109 | 1401109 01 0144100 | , wy tai got alooao | | |

As displayed in the table, most of the studies were conducted in North America (n=33) and Europe (n=57), mainly in Italy (n=9), United Kingdom (n=9), Spain (n=7), France (n=6), and Germany (n=6). The diseases highlighted as the most studied in each continent are not surprising, since they are important infectious exotic or emerging diseases that have been the target of preventive and control measures over the last years in each region of the world. In fact, exotic (n=30) and the emerging (n=57) diseases are the most representative in this review.

In addition, the majority of the studies were related to zoonosis (n=69), which normally increases the relevance of the disease and the allocation of resources.

The review covered a wide range of target host species, both domestic and wild (Figure 3). The most common species were the bovines (n=44). Interestingly, 37 studies (*i.e.* 26.56%) from 2001 focused on methods involving wildlife, especially related to emerging diseases (n=27, 21.09%).





Figure 3. Distribution of the number of papers by target host species. The main host species include domestic animals (Dom, in blue), wildlife (Wild, in red), vectors (Vec, in green), and combination of several of those (in yellow). Papers in which the target host was not specifically defined (ND) or those in which the species was not applicable (NA) are also indicated.

Methodologies

The articles were classified into three categories (Figure 4):

- Papers including active surveillance strategies (n=54).
- Papers including passive surveillance strategies (n=33).
- Papers including methods to be applied in surveillance systems (n=69).

Some of the articles contained more than one of the above cited categories, as shown by the stripes in the second pie-chart of Figure 4 (*e.g.* active surveillance to collect the data, followed by implementation of a model).



Figure 4. Distribution of the papers by type of approach. The pie chart on the left indicates the three main aggregated categories (see above), while the pie chart on the right shows the specific categories (*i.e.* including the combinations).



We identified papers which data source was primary (n=56), secondary (n=54), or both (n=18). As for the use of data, most of the papers were based on real data (n=66), while 41 are based on simulations and 25 on both. Interestingly, papers where real data were used were mostly classified as primary data, (Figure 5) indicating that real data is provided and analyzed by the authors, mainly from samplings and collection of epidemiological data. Another interesting observation is that papers which include simulations frequently use secondary data, mainly from databases external to the authors.



Figure 5. Distribution of the papers by data source (*i.e.* primary, secondary, or both) and data management method (*i.e.* real data, simulation, or both).



Figure 6. Distribution of the papers by risk-based (RB, in red) or not risk-based (No RB, in blue) approach. (a) Considering the year of publication. (b) Considering the most relevant threats. (c) Considering the most representative countries of Europe and North America.



Sixty-one papers included risk-based approaches, especially those describing methods (*i.e.* 45 out of 61). This 'risk-based' concept even appeared in 1993. An increase in the absolute number (but not the proportion) is observed after 2007 (Figure 6a). Risk-based approaches were especially applied to three diseases: bluetongue (n=7 out of 10), avian influenza (n=10 out of 15), and West Nile (n=6 out of 14) (Figure 6b). As for the countries, European risk-based studies had a higher proportion (n=32 out of 56) than North American ones (n= 13 out of 33) (Figure 6c).

When analysing the risk-based categories, **risk-based sampling** (n=20) and **risk-based requirement** (n=39) seemed to be the most frequently used ones. Both types were aiming to increase the chance of early detection of hazards, either by selecting the target population to be sampled or by identifying the critical points of surveillance programmes in order to intensify and improve their performance. The first category was mainly used when considering sentinel surveillance for exotic diseases. Conversely, a risk-based requirement was applied to many kinds of diseases (both emerging and exotic) and approaches. Amongst these types of diseases, **risk-based analyses** (n=7) were not highly represented, since the goal of these studies was not related to obtaining conclusions about disease status. **Risk-based prioritisation** (n=6) was a minor category, and applied to methodologies dealing with exotic diseases.

Half (n=64) of the papers covered multiple diseases, either based on **general** methods (n=41) or using a **multi-objective** approach (n=23). Most of the general papers were related to syndromic surveillance, which has a generalist nature *per* se. The multi-objective scope was typical for papers describing methods, passive surveillance strategies and the combination of both. These papers mainly dealt with (i) methods focused on several specific diseases of certain host species, (ii) a single disease but entailing some others, or (iii) vector surveillance.

Specific methodologies found

Each approach was assigned to a specific category, depending on the methodologies applied and described in the paper (Table 5).

 Table 5. Frequency of different methodologies found in the review, identifying also the use of risk-based methods, and the number of papers addressing multiple threats.

| General category | Specific category | Count | Risk- based | Percentage | Multiple nature | Percentage |
|---------------------|----------------------------|-------|----------------|------------|--------------------|------------|
| | Spatial epidemiology (GIS) | 22 | 14 | 63.64% | 7 | 31.82% |
| | Statistical model | 14 | 10 | 71.43% | 10 | 71.43% |
| | Digital surveillance | 12 | 3 | 27.27% | 9 | 75.00% |
| | Simulation model | 8 | 6 | 75.00% | 2 | 25.00% |
| EPIDEM. | Risk assessment | 7 | 7 | 100.00% | 1 | 14.29% |
| METHODS | Scenario tree model | 6 | 5 | 83.33% | 0 | 0.00% |
| | Cluster analysis | 5 | 4 | 80.00% | 2 | 40.00% |
| | Environmental model | 4 | 4 | 100.00% | 2 | 50.00% |
| | Literature review | 4 | 0 | 0.00% | 4 | 100.00% |
| | Others | 6 | 5 | 83.33% | 4 | 66.67% |
| | Vector surveillance | 17 | 2 | 11.76% | 6 | 35.29% |
| | Sentinels | 16 | 10 | 62.50% | 1 | 6.25% |
| ACTIVE | Serosurvey | 13 | 5 | 38.46% | 1 | 7.69% |
| ACTIVE | Pathogen determination | 12 | 2 | 16.67% | 3 | 25.00% |
| | Participatory | 8 | 1 | 12.50% | 5 | 62.50% |
| | Others | 3 | 1 | 33.33% | 1 | 33.33% |
| | Syndromic | 18 | | | 18 | 100.00% |
| | Clinical investigation | 10 | | | 0 | 0.00% |
| PASSIVE | Mortality investigation | 5 | 0 | 0.00% | 0 | 0.00% |
| | Parameter monitoring | 2 | | | 1 | 50.00% |
| | Others | 3 | 1 | | 2 | 66.67% |



Papers focusing on epidemiological methods

The category that was mostly represented in the methodological papers was **spatial epidemiology and GIS-based approaches** (n=22). Fourteen of these were risk-based methods, while seven addressed multiple threats. The main purely spatial approach found was **risk mapping** (n=6), which consists of obtaining risk maps for the "probability of environmental suitability for the vector or disease in question" by spatial overlaying of relevant risk factors using statistical or other algorithms (Pfeiffer *et al.*, 2008). These approaches were particularly applied to multi-factorial and/or vector-borne diseases, because they allow the inclusion of multiple factors, and result in easily interpretable outputs, with direct application to cost-effective allocation of surveillance and control resources. However, major constraints are the lack of adequate quality data, and the risk of missing important information in the spatial model, both resulting in potentially biased model outputs. This is the reason why almost all the studies included a validation step of their approaches (n=12 out of 16 studies for which validation is applicable).

In addition, other applications of the spatial approaches to early detection were:

- Supporting **active surveillance** activities (n=7), being useful for designing sampling sites or presenting surveillance results.
- Combining with **conventional epidemiological approaches** (n=6), such as regression models, risk assessments or simulation modelling, mainly as a tool for representation and interpretation of their results, since the raw output from these models is usually not easy to comprehend.
- Being part of **digital surveillance** frameworks (n=5), in order to support the visualization of the results or implement certain spatial transformations of the data.

A very common finding in the review was the use of **statistical models** (n=14). Most of them were risk-based (n=10) and for multiple diseases (n=10). We found a wide range of methodologies, from the simplest linear regression models to more advanced Bayesian approaches, such as Poisson Hidden Markov models. While there were papers describing methodologies that were not particularly novel or innovative, they were included in this review since their application for early detection was considered original and potentially useful. For instance, regression models were used to illustrate the potential identification of a novel swine disease (*i.e.* porcine circovirus associated disease) using test requests for PRRS (O'Sullivan *et al.*, 2012). Typically, the utility of the outputs generated by these approaches was affected by restrictive or inappropriate model assumptions and/or problems with data acquisition and management. If data are not appropriate in terms of quality and quantity, the usefulness of the output is usually compromised. However, the potential utility of these methods for development of enhanced, risk-based surveillance systems has been documented in numerous articles of the past decades.

Another category highlighted in the review is **digital surveillance** (n=12). These papers comprise several tools for data collection, management and processing, which normally involve several diseases (n=9). They have a direct link with governments and institutions, and are beneficial for interinstitutional relationships and decision-making. Another advantage is their real-time nature, which allows constant update of the situation and earlier detection and intervention in case of animal health threats. As additional benefits, these platforms are considered to be useful, simple, flexible, acceptable, and timely. The main limitations are that they are still under development (*i.e.* pilot phases), which implies the need for future adjustments and calibrations, and a current lack of a standardised way to submit information safely, easily and providing data of good quality.



Simulation modelling was considerably represented in the review (n=8). These approaches aim to predict disease dynamics in a population in time and sometimes in space under specific circumstances. Once the epidemics are established, they are also useful for assessment of the capabilities for their diagnosis and mitigation. A novel inclusion in this model is the estimation of economic impact. In this case, sensitivity analyses showed to be the most useful way to evaluate the approaches, since there is usually some degree of subjectivity when assigning the model parameter values.

Three other methods represented in the review were **risk assessments** (n=7), scenario tree models (n=6), and **cluster analyses** (n=5). The first is a purely risk-based method (n=7), which generates risk estimates for use in designing and evaluating risk-based surveillance systems, although they focus on release and/or exposure of pathogens (not on surveillance itself). Risk assessments can also provide information about evaluation of the variations in risk, based on a standardised model framework which can be adjusted and updated, thereby allowing to improve the effectiveness of surveillance if the disease epidemiology and therefore risk changes over time. Similar to other methods, guantity and quality of the data used to parameterize the models determine the usefulness of the outputs. Scenario tree models reviewed were used for validation of surveillance systems, and demonstration of how the likelihood of early detection of diseases can be improved by combining the most appropriate passive and/or active strategies in the surveillance programmes for emerging and exotic diseases. As with risk assessments, data quality and model assumptions will greatly influence the usefulness of the outputs, and therefore sensitivity analyses should be performed (n=3) in order to understand this effect better. Lastly, cluster analysis is useful for early warning, especially if combined with syndromic surveillance data (n=2). However, detected clusters might not represent real outbreaks, so further epidemiological investigation would be required to determine the cause of any spatial, temporal or space-time clustering. For this reason, all the papers validated their models using field data.

In the review, <u>other types of methods</u> were also used, such as **environmental predictive models** (n=4), or **literature reviews** (n=4). Although these papers can provide some relevant information that can be directly used for surveillance design or for modelling purposes, they were too heterogeneous to allow a proper analysis under the remit of this systematic review.

Other approaches identified in the current review, but only used rarely, are a framework to integrate veterinary health reporting with public health systems (n=1), evaluation of methods to assess coverage and data availability of early-warning surveillance systems (n=1), network analysis contributing to the assessment of potential spread patterns through animal movements (n=1), a neural-network-based approach to identify significant risk factors for West Nile virus infection (n=1), validation of early-warning methods in abattoir monitoring systems (n=1), and studies to select the best sample for diagnosis of classical swine fever (n=1).

Active surveillance approaches

The two most relevant active surveillance activities found in the review were <u>vector surveillance</u> (n=17) and <u>sentinels</u> (n=16).

<u>Vector surveillance</u> focused on three main groups of vectors of interest: *Culicoides* spp. (n=8), mosquitoes (n=7) (especially *Culex* spp.) and ticks (n=2). *Culicoides* midges are represented relatively frequently due to the wide-spread surveillance efforts focused on bluetongue. Mosquito monitoring has been a component of surveillance for several diseases, such as Rift Valley fever, West Nile, Usutu virus, or St. Louis encephalitis, all of them important emerging diseases in recent years. This kind of surveillance does not seem very sensitive for the detection of the presence of the disease.



However, the main benefit of these approaches is the characterization of the distribution of the vectors, not only for the target disease, but also for other similar diseases, so that their potential spread can be predicted. Another issue, when deciding to place the traps for collection in areas at high risk for disease occurrence, is that density could be overestimated. Therefore, most of the studies recommend that the sampling area should be increased. This strategy, when combined with sentinels (n=8), seems to be effective for early warning and establishment of control measures.

The incorporation of <u>sentinels</u> in surveillance systems increases the probability of detection of first incursion of a particular disease at the earliest time possible, since they are in place to provide early information on the species (n=5), time periods (n=3) and/or areas (n=9) at higher risk. Therefore, it is a more effective system than traditional <u>serosurveys</u> (n=15) or <u>pathogen identification</u> (n=12). However, these methods were used:

- As a permanent component of surveillance systems, as occasional complementary activity (n=11), or
- As a data source for the parameterisation of a statistical or simulation model (n=4), or
- As a preliminary screening for exotic or emerging pathogens (namely West Nile, avian influenza, emerging salmonellosis, pigeon paramyxovirus, simian African viruses or eosinophillic meningitis) in order to obtain a preliminary overview of the sanitary situation before applying specific measures.

A novel approach for active surveillance (*i.e.* first appearance in the review in 2005) is the use of **participatory surveillance** (n=8). This emerging method provides an approach to enhance collaboration and communication between different sectors and institutions, understand the causes of the success or failure (*i.e.* strengths or weaknesses) of current surveillance programmes in order to help policy reforms, or obtain a quick overview of the epidemiological situation in an area. Most of them were conducted in developing countries (n=5). The main limitation is the non-response rate, mainly due to resistance to answer or lack of trust this methodology. This lack of participation may impede the conduction of further analyses in most situations. In addition, to be efficient this approach relies on reporting by observers (*e.g.* animal owners, veterinarians) when in fact there often are disincentives for outbreak reporting, due to the potential adverse economic impact on the livestock holding or sector. Other issues could be a poor representativeness of the interviewees or an inadequate design of the questionnaire, which could require a second round in order to be solved.

Passive surveillance approaches

Syndromic surveillance is the most commonly represented passive surveillance approach (n=18). The review shows that it is a novel method (*i.e.* first articles in 2006) and that it is characterized by its general surveillance nature (n=16). Although pure syndromic methods are mainly described in the articles, they can also be integrated into digital surveillance frameworks (n=2). In general, these articles propose a method for early detection of changes in the population health (*e.g.* clinical cases, abnormal mortality rates, post-mortem findings) that are defined as syndromes. Most of the papers described methods for grouping these syndromes, in order to allow the early identification of potential outbreak signals. In fact, the shortening of the detection time is highlighted in the majority of the studies as the main advantage (*i.e.* even several weeks prior to the laboratory testing). Other benefits are their potential cost-effectiveness, the integration and optimization of data from different sources, or the simplicity of having a simple system covering multiple threats. However, these methods appear always as retrospective approaches in the reviewed articles, in the sense that they are designed with information of previous outbreaks of disease and thus, they have not been proved for upcoming threats. The retrospective nature of these approaches means that a future validation is necessary to determine their full applicability and benefit.



Harmonization of criteria is also an important requirement when defining the syndromes, since the data may be obtained from several sources. In addition, a continuous update of the syndrome definition is necessary in order to include new diseases. Additionally, these approaches should consider an effective mechanism for the prevention of 'false alarms' (*i.e.* syndromes identified, but later not found to be associated with any true hazard). Several authors highlight that this method cannot replace the traditional surveillance methods, but it is useful for early warning and supporting planning and policy development.

Other passive surveillance methods (*i.e.* <u>clinical and mortality investigation</u>) identified as part of the current review consisted of traditional methods used as a data source for input into epidemiological models (n=4) or as a component of a surveillance system for exotic or emerging diseases (n=7).

DISCUSSION

The present report aims at reviewing current approaches and methodologies that have been developed over the last 20 years for the early detection of exotic, new and re-emerging diseases. In contrast to other previous reviews, which usually focused on general or specific aspects of one type of surveillance (*i.e.* syndromic surveillance or participatory surveillance), this systematic review of the scientific literature is the first that has considered all approaches and methodologies targeting early detection. Special focus has been given to the review of methodologies, evaluating both the benefits and the current limitations of each model. This information will be used to inform the development of tools to facilitate the design of cost-effective surveillance strategies in the RISKSUR project.

The selection process used was a systematic review based on combining general search terms for surveillance with specific ones for early detection. The selected articles were evaluated according to primary exclusion criteria reflecting the general theme, primary exclusion criteria for WP2 (early detection of exotic, new and re-emerging diseases) and secondary exclusion criteria. Based on this selection process, a total of 128 articles were carefully reviewed to extract the information about the variables of interest.

One limitation of our approach is that the search terms used to perform the systematic selection of the articles did not include the keywords of each article, since it has been assumed that the keywords would be included in the title and/or the abstract of the article. The use of this protocol may have resulted in a small number of relevant articles which were not included in this review. Moreover, the current review did not include the search of grey literature (*i.e.* documents found by internet search or in conference proceedings not included in SCI) nor included other articles cited in the selected articles that might also have been relevant. However, the impact of these limitations on the final result is not expected to have been substantial because it is plausible that most articles will have the search terms in the title or the abstract, and grey literature may contain scientific information of doubtful quality, since these publications are not peer-reviewed.

Passive components have historically formed the core of the surveillance approaches used for the detection of emerging and re-emerging threats (Doherr and Audigé, 2001). These 'traditional' surveillance activities are likely to provide an essential component of early warning surveillance in the future, but may need to be supplemented with new approaches. The evaluation of traditional surveillance systems for their accuracy (sensitivity or specificity), precision (repeatability), timeliness, multiple utility, value and cost-effectiveness (Thurmond, 2003) has highlighted the need for improvement, especially after the 2001 outbreak of foot-and-mouth disease in UK. In recent years, many new approaches to surveillance have been developed.



One of these developments is the use of risk-based surveillance methods, which is likely to be more efficient and cost-effective than traditional methods (Stärk *et al.*, 2006). The 'risk-based' concept is not completely new, as such surveillance systems have already been implemented as 'targeted surveillance' since the 2000's as part of the surveillance of bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE) (Stärk *et al.*, 2006). For example, vector-borne diseases such as bluetongue include sentinel surveillance, which must be performed in areas at high risk informed by a risk assessment considering entomological and ecological evaluations [Commission Regulation (EC) No 1266/2007]. However, its incorporation into existing surveillance systems is scarce. As an illustration, this review has identified 69 papers dealing with new risk-based methods already implemented into countries' surveillance systems. Nonetheless, current traditional systems can always be improved by the substitution or inclusion of new risk-based components, in order to enhance surveillance in a cost-effective manner.

A fact to highlight in the current review is that risk-based methods have been applied particularly for vector-borne diseases such as bluetongue, West Nile fever and Rift Valley fever. The main reason for this fact is the environmental influence on presence or density of mosquitoes, and consequentially on disease occurrence. Risk mapping, environmental models and simulations of vector spread are the risk-based approaches that have been used to identify the areas and time periods in which surveillance is more likely to successfully detect these diseases early. Other diseases in which riskbased methods have been applied are avian influenza and foot-and-mouth disease. In the case of avian influenza, the risk-based approaches are mainly focused on early detection of the disease entry by wild birds, taking into consideration the environmental factors such as presence of wetland areas. Regarding foot-and-mouth disease, the articles described risk-based models mainly for identifying optimal procedures for early detection of the disease in case of an outbreak, and the spread of the virus. In summary, risk-based methods have been mainly developed for diseases for which (i) there are biotic factors (such as vectors or wild birds) whose presence directly depends on abiotic environmental factors and which are essential for the presence and spread of the disease; or (ii) different scenarios pose several levels of risk of introduction and spread of the disease. In addition, the application of risk-based approaches was also related to the nature of the surveillance. While most of the studies which focused on a specific disease are risk-based (68.25%), it seems that those approaches dealing with multiple diseases (*i.e.* general or multi-objective) are mainly not risk-based (72.31%). Thus, the potential development of risk-based methods for simultaneous application on multiple diseases could be a field for further research. However, identification of risk factors suitable for prediction of the occurrence of multiple diseases represents a considerable challenge and may explain why risk-based approaches for general surveillance systems have not been developed yet.

The review has shown that a significant amount of work has been carried out in relation to the development of risk-based approaches for identifying populations at high risk for certain infections, especially by using risk mapping. Although risk maps provide very useful information for allocation of preventive measures and provide relatively easy to interpret, there is still some work to be done to integrate the results of these analyses into the design of risk-based sampling strategies. The same limitation is also encountered with the other approaches identified in the current review. Methods such as statistical or simulation models, risk assessments, and cluster analysis can be used to inform risk-based surveillance and provide useful output in relation to disease patterns, relevant risk factors and estimates, or efficiency of surveillance activities. However, their use in operational surveillance systems has been rare. This is mainly due to the complexity of the underlying epidemiological concepts, algorithms, and/or software used, as well as the lack of confidence of decision makers into outputs obtained and/or decision-makers inability or unwillingness to work constructively with the uncertainty estimates associated with these model outputs. Therefore, outputs generated by these quantitative methods need to be communicated more effectively to decision-makers and better evidence of the value of risk-based surveillance strategies is required. Other limitations found in the



review (*e.g.* limited sample size, spatial or time clustering, lack of risk estimates, bias in selection of risk factors, imperfect test characteristics, public awareness of the emerging threat, inclusion of past surveillance results, multiple data sources, or low quality of data) could be overcome by appropriate selection of the method to use in relation to the threat of interest. In addition, those studies including validation of the particular methods investigated with real disease data have demonstrated the benefits of their inclusion in surveillance programmes. The adoption of risk-based methods and other new approaches can be facilitated by providing evidence of their cost-effectiveness. This will be essential since it is typically being argued that risk-based designs involve additional cost due to their increased complexity compared to random sampling approaches.

It can be concluded that another recent development in surveillance methods that has clear application to early detection systems is the use of syndromic data. However, the potential role of syndromic surveillance as part of early detection needs further investigation. It has been applied for early detection of seasonal increases in incidence of known human hazards, such as influenza or heat-related mortality (e.g. Josseran et al., 2009; Perry et al., 2011; Schrell et al., 2013), or for assessing the impact of environmental disasters on the health of populations (e.g. CDC, 2006; Elliot et al., 2010). There is much interest in the collection and analysis methods used for these data in the animal health field, but it is unclear whether these methods are sensitive enough to be useful for early detection of all type of health events. Analysis of syndromic data following the raising of an alert about an emerging disease or in the face of an increased risk of exotic disease incursion may also be useful to speed up the investigation of potential outbreaks to avoid disease spread. Collection of syndromic data may be useful but its role in the detection of different disease types requires further clarification, and systems currently developed need further validation as more data becomes available. However, its combination with rapid systems for data collection or good inter-institutional communication which would provide data of different nature potentially could be very advantageous. If incorporated into digital surveillance systems, which are still in very early stages of development, this could result in a real-time health monitoring system. Nevertheless, it is important to recognize that these systems will still rely on the availability of effective laboratory testing in order to diagnose the underlying infectious causes of any emerging trends and alarms (Koopmans, 2013).

There have also been developments in the active surveillance activities applied for early detection. Sentinel surveillance, as shown in this review, can be a very useful surveillance system component when dealing with exotic or emerging diseases, as it increases the probability and timeliness of detecting 'recently infected or new diseased' animals. In addition, it is useful for monitoring of vectors, especially since most of the emerging diseases occurring in recent years are vector-borne (Racloz *et al.*, 2007; Pfeffer and Dobler, 2010). Thus, the combination of sentinel and vector surveillance could be particularly relevant for monitoring of vector-borne diseases with easily distinguishable clinical symptoms and a rapid onset. In fact, the usefulness of vector surveillance as a common monitoring activity is more and more proved in the recent years. For instance, it is believed that the outbreaks of bluetongue in Europe could have been better detected and controlled if more information about the vector distribution had been available (Giovannini, 2006). As a result of control efforts for this infection in Europe, *Culicoides* spp. distribution is now well documented, and this information will also benefit the design of surveillance and control programmes for other *Culicoides*-borne diseases, such as the recent Schmallenberg disease (Goffredo *et al.*, 2013).

Another developing area of surveillance that is relevant to early detection is surveillance of wildlife populations. The consideration of wildlife health surveillance activities is not a novel concept (Mörner *et al.*, 2002). In the current review 37 studies (*i.e.* 26.56%) from 2001 dealt with methods involving wild animal species, especially relating to emerging diseases (n=27, 21.09%). This increasing interest is explained by the recent appearance of infectious emerging or re-emerging threats involving wildlife (*e.g.* chytrid fungi in amphibians, morbillivirus infections in marine mammals or European brown hare



syndrome), or those having an impact on human (*e.g.* severe acute respiratory syndrome, influenza, West Nile, Lyme disease, or *Hantavirus* infections) or livestock health (*e.g.* Newcastle disease, brucellosis, or tuberculosis) (Mörner *et al.*, 2002; Kuiken *et al.*, 2011). However, the meeting organised in 2009 by the European Wildlife Disease Association (EWDA) highlighted the fact that only 14 out of the 25 European countries represented performed some kind of surveillance activity in wild animal populations (Kuiken *et al.*, 2011). The implementation of surveillance activities in wildlife species may not be widespread for several reasons, such as: (i) limited access to wild animal populations because of the extent of their habitat; (ii) the protected status of certain emblematic or endangered species; (iii) lack of diagnostic assays adapted to wildlife; or (iv) environmental, habitat and behavioural factors having an influence in animal density and, thus, disease impact in populations (Giovannini, 2006). The migratory nature of some wild species makes surveillance more difficult, not only due to the rapid and long distance dispersal of pathogens across of political borders, but also hampering surveillance efforts. This situation is reflected in the current review, since 25 out of the 37 (*i.e.* 65.57%) studies relating to wildlife involve wild bird species.

Some surveillance strategies focused on wildlife consist of: (i) investigating morbidity and mortality events, (ii) identifying new pathogens, and (iii) monitoring the status of known diseases within wild animal populations (Mörner *et al.*, 2002). These activities may provide an insight into infectious disease pathologies and agents, as well as new host ranges. The more relevant data related to the incident are collected, the more realistic and useful this information will be for the total population at risk. All the conclusions gathered by these activities should be quickly shared around the world, to prevent the transboundary spread of pathogens. Fortunately, the 2011 EWDA meeting established the basis to create an international network for wildlife health surveillance (Kuiken *et al.*, 2011). This network may be useful for setting up appropriate surveillance schemes focused on wildlife, as well as for fostering cooperation between public health and animal health professionals, in order to be able to deal with the emerging threats from a more global perspective. Since the interactions of the interface between humans, livestock and wildlife have intensified in the last 20-30 years (mainly as a result of anthropogenic factors), these have become an important driver of disease emergence (Siembieda *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, further studies need to be conducted to establish methods of data collection and diagnosis of emerging pathogens adapted to this interface.

The expansion of the EU and the increase of population over the past 20 years have arisen important socio-economic and also health consequences for the partner countries. This expansion has promoted the concept of 'open trade', which means lowering commercial barriers to encourage trade between countries and to promote competitiveness, both within and outside the EU. As a consequence, the risk of introducing new or exotic diseases into the Member States rises with the number of movements between countries, as trade of live animals is one of the main introduction routes for infectious diseases. For that reason, severe legal and health requirements have been imposed by the DG Health and Consumers at European level, supervised by the OIE at a global level, to minimise the opportunity for high risk contacts. The implementation of surveillance programs for infectious diseases also needs to provide protection against the entrance of exotic, new and re-emerging diseases through trade as well as other entry routes (*e.g.* contacts with wildlife). However, recent health crises such as foot-and-mouth disease and avian influenza have highlighted the need for further improvement of this type of surveillance, which can fail in detecting new pathogens which have not been previously identified or fail in detecting new pathogens which have not been previously identified or

This current systematic review of the literature has shown that several novel methodologies can be incorporated into surveillance programs to improve their ability for early detection of exotic, new and re-emerging diseases. Approaches identified in this review to take into consideration in the future are risk-based methods, the monitoring of health events combined with specific disease outbreaks, the enhancing of participatory surveillance and the integration of information into digital databases that



allow a rapid and cost-effective identification of threats also improving timeliness. The next steps to improve surveillance systems in the European Union are (i) the development of evaluation frameworks to study the application of these novel methodologies integrated with or replacing currently used methods whilst maintaining or improving upon the sensitivity and specificity of the current standards and (ii) the definition of the parameters that should be considered and recorded in each country and which level of detail this information should have (*i.e.* minimum requirements) to allow the implementation of novel methodologies and risk-based methods. Thus, the present literature review has provided key information about advantages, disadvantages, limitations and potential application of novel methodologies for early detection of exotic, new and re-emerging diseases.



CONCLUSIONS

Emerging diseases are at the top of the current priorities of the health institutions worldwide. The current review supports the impression that there is significant global interest to improve the ability of surveillance systems for early detection in order to be able to minimise the impact of such threats. To achieve this purpose, a series of new tools has been developed, and many of the traditional approaches have been adapted to be able to more effectively deal with the new threats. There is a clear trend towards utilising 'risk-based' methodologies aimed at optimising the surveillance efforts in the most efficient and cost-effective way. In addition, the complexity and dynamism of the underlying eco-social system within which these pathogens emerge has emphasized the need for interdisciplinary collaboration in order to improve early warning surveillance systems, comprising producers, field veterinarians, pathologists, animal health consultants, diagnostic laboratories, ecologists, wildlife experts, economists, social scientists and national and international institutions. Establishment of these 'One Health / Ecohealth' networks well become a key requirement for effective protection of public health, trade, and animal health and welfare.

The next step could be a single and global approach, which would merge the benefits of all these methodologies with a practical application. In the framework of the RISKSUR project, a decision-support framework will be developed which will allow linking the components and tools of a surveillance system aimed at early detection of diseases taking into account knowledge generated by risk assessment and financial and staff resources as well as variation in data quality and quantity in different Member States under different disease scenarios. Therefore, the current review sets up the basis for the selection of methodologies, based on the benefits and limitations of each approach identified, as well as suggestions for their combination. In addition, this review informs the assessment of the extent to which strategies are most appropriate for the design of surveillance for new, exotic and re-emerging diseases and the relative importance of passive and active risk-based sampling for early detection.



REFERENCES

- Babin, S. M. (2010). Using syndromic surveillance systems to detect pneumonic plague. *Epidemiology* and Infection, 138, 1-8.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (2006). Surveillance in hurricane evacuation centers--Louisiana, September-October 2005. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 55(2), 32-35.
- Commission Regulation (EC) No 1266/2007, of 26 October 2007, on implementing rules for Council Directive 2000/75/EC as regards the control, monitoring, surveillance and restrictions on movements of certain animals of susceptible species in relation to bluetongue
- Doherr, M. G., and Audigé, L. (2001). Monitoring and surveillance for rare health-related events: a review from the veterinary perspective. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B Biological Sciences*, 356, 1097-1106.
- Dórea, F. C., Sanchez, J., Revie, C. W. (2011). Veterinary syndromic surveillance : current initiatives and potential for development. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, *101*, 1-17.
- Elliot, A. J., Singh, N., Loveridge, P., Harcourt, S., Smith, S., Pnaiser, R., Kavanagh, K., Robertson, C., Ramsay, C. N., McMenamin, J., Kibble, A., Murray, V., Ibbotson, S., Catchpole, M., McCloskey, B., and Smith, G. E. (2010). Syndromic surveillance to assess the potential public health impact of the Icelandic volcanic ash plume across the United Kingdom, April 2010. *Euro Surveillance*, *15*(23), pii: 19583.
- European Union (EU) (2013). Summaries of EU legislation External trade. Available online at: http://europa.eu/legislation_summaries/external_trade/index_en.htm (last access on July 7th, 2013).
- Giovannini, A. (2006). National monitoring and surveillance. Veterinaria Italiana, 42(4), 407-429.
- Global Infectious Disease Surveillance and Detection: Assessing the Challenges—Finding Solutions, Workshop Summary (2007).
- Goffredo, M., Monaco, F., Capelli, G., Quaglia, M., Federici, V., Catalani, M., Montarsi, F., Polci, A., Pinoni, C., Calistri, P., and Savini, G. (2013). Schmallenberg virus in Italy: a retrospective survey in *Culicoides* stored during the bluetongue Italian surveillance program. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2013.05.014.
- Hoinville, L.J., Alban, L., Drewe, J.A., Gibbens, J.C., Gustafson, L., Häsler, B., Saegerman, C., Salman, M., and Stärk, K.D.C. (2013). Proposed terms and concepts for describing and evaluating animal-health surveillance systems. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2013.06.006.
- International Conference on Animal Health Surveillance (ICAHS) (2012). Animal health surveillance terminology final report from Pre-ICAHS workshop. Available online at: <u>http://www.defra.gov.uk/ahvla-en/files/icahs-workshop-report.pdf</u> (last access: July 17th, 2013).



- Josseran, L., Fouillet, A., Caillère, N., Brun-Ney, D., Ilef, D., Brucker, G., Medeiros, H., and Astagneau, P. (2010). Assessment of a syndromic surveillance system based on morbidity data: results from the Oscour network during a heat wave. *PLoS ONE*, *5*(8), e11984. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0011984
- Kitching, R. P. M., Thrusfield, V., and Taylor, N. M. (2006). Use and abuse of mathematical models: an illustration from the 2001 foot and mouth disease epidemic in the United Kingdom. *Revue scientifique et technique (International Office of Epizootics)*, 25, 293–311.
- Kuiken, T., Ryser-Degiorgis, M.-P., Gavier-Widén, D., and Gortázar, C. (2011). Establishing a European network for wildlife health surveillance. *Revue scientifique et technique (International* Office of Epizootics), 30(3), 755-761.
- Koopmans, M. (2013). Surveillance strategy for early detection of unusual infectious disease events. *Current Opinion in Virology*, *3*, 185-191.
- Mörner, T., Obendorf, D. L., Artois, M., and Woodford, M. H. (2002). Surveillance and monitoring of wildlife diseases. *Revue scientifique et technique (International Office of Epizootics)*, 21(1), 67-76.
- Morse, S. S. (2012). Public health surveillance and infectious disease detection. *Biosecurity and Bioterrorism: Biodefense Strategy, Practice, and Science, 10*(1), 6-16.
- National Research Council (NCR) (2007). Global Infectious Disease Surveillance and Detection: Assessing the Challenges -- Finding Solutions, Workshop Summary. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.
- O'Sullivan, T. L., Friendship, R. M., Pearl, D. L., McEwen, B., and Dewey, C. E. (2012). Identifying an outbreak of a novel swine disease using test requests for porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome as a syndromic surveillance tool. *BMC Veterinary Research*, *8*(1), 1. doi:10.1186/1746-6148-8-192
- Perry, A. G., Korenberg, M. J., Hall, G. G., and Moore, K. M. (2011). Modeling and syndromic surveillance for estimating weather-induced heat.related illness. *Journal of Environmental Public Health*, doi: 10.1155/2011/750236
- Pfeffer, M., and Dobler, G. (2010). Emergence of zoonotic arboviruses by animal trade and migration. *Parasites and Vectors*, *3*, 35, doi:10.1186/1756-3305-3-35.
- Pfeiffer, D.U., Robinson, T.P., Stevenson, M., Stevens, K.B., Clements, A.C.A., and Rogers, D. (2008). Spatial analysis in epidemiology. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK.
- Racloz, V., Griot, C, and Stärk, K. D. C. (2007). Sentinel surveillance systems with special focus on vector-borne diseases. *Animal Health Research Reviews*, 7(1/2), 71-79.
- Schrell, S., Ziemann, A., Garcia-Castrillo Riesgo, L., Rosenkötter, N., Llorca, J., Popa, D., Krafft, T. on behalf of the SIDARTHa Project Consortium (2013). Local implementation of a syndromic influenza surveillance system using emergency department data in Santander, Spain. *Journal of Public Health: Oxford Journals*, doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fdt043.



- Siembieda, J. L., Koch, R. A., McCracken, T. A., and Newman, S. H. (2011). The role of wildlife diseases in transboundary animal diseases. *Animal Health Research Reviews*, *12*(1), 95-111.
- Stärk, K. D. C., Regula, G., Hernandez, J., Knopf, L., Fuchs, K., Morris, R. S., and Davies, P. (2006). Concepts for risk-based surveillance in the field of veterinary medicine and veterinary public health: review of current approaches. *BMC Health Services Research*, 6:20, doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-6-20.
- Tataryn, J., Berezowski, J., and Campbell, J. (2006). Animal disease surveillance. *Large Animal Veterinary Rounds*, 7(6).
- Thurmond, M. C. (2003). Special article: Conceptual foundations for infectious disease surveillance. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, *15*, 501–514.
- Wagner, M. M., Tsui, F. C., Espino, J. U., Dato, V. M., Sittig, D. F., Caruana, R. A., McGinnis, L. F., Deerfield, D. W., Druzdzel, M. J., and Fridsma, D. B. (2001). The emerging science of very early detection of disease outbreaks. *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice*, 7, 51–59.



ANNEXES

ANNEX I. List of the 128 scientific articles included in the review of the surveillance systems for early detection of new, exotic and re-emerging diseases.

- Alba, A., Casal, J., Napp, S., and Martin, P. A. J. (2010). Assessment of different surveillance systems for avian influenza in commercial poultry in Catalonia (North-Eastern Spain). *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 97(2), 107–118.
- Alba, A., Allepuz, A., Casal, J., Abad, F. X., Serrano, E., Selga, I., Villalba, R., Aranda, C., Escosa, R., Marques, E., and Busquets, N. (2011). The ecological surveillance of West Nile virus in Catalonia: in continuous evolution. *Epidémiologie et Santé Animale*, 59-60, 137–139.
- Ali, S. N., Asif, M., Rehman, A., Jat, L. A., and Hussain, M. (2007). Participatory surveillance of livestock diseases in district Karachi Pakistan. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology*, 8(5), 652–656.
- Alsaaod, M., and Buescher, W. (2011). Using information systems in dairy farming for prevention health management. *Sustainable animal husbandry: prevention is better than cure, Volume 1.* Proceedings of the 14th International Congress of the International Society for Animal Hygiene (ISAH), Vechta, Germany, 19-23 July 2009, 517-520
- Alton, G. D., Pearl, D. L., Bateman, K. G., McNab, W. B., and Berke, O. (2010). Factors associated with whole carcass condemnation rates in provincially-inspected abattoirs in Ontario 2001-2007: implications for food animal syndromic surveillance. *BMC Veterinary Research*, *6*, 42. doi:10.1186/1746-6148-6-42
- Alton, G. D., Pearl, D. L., Bateman, K. G., McNab, W. B., and Berke, O. (2012). Suitability of bovine portion condemnations at provincially-inspected abattoirs in Ontario Canada for food animal syndromic surveillance. *BMC Veterinary Research*, 8(1), 88. doi:10.1186/1746-6148-8-88
- Amezcua, M. del R., Pearl, D. L., Friendship, R. M., and Mcnab, W. B. (2010). Evaluation of a veterinarybased syndromic surveillance system implemented for swine. *The Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research 74*, 241–251.
- Anyamba, A., Chretien, J.-P., Formenty, P. B. H., Small, J., Tucker, C. J., Malone, J. L., El Bushra, H., Martin, V., and Linthicum, K. J. (2006). Rift Valley Fever potential, Arabian Peninsula. *Emerging infectious diseases*, 12(3), 518–20.
- Ba, Y., Sall, A. A., Diallo, D., Mondo, M., Girault, L., Dia, I., and Diallo, M. (2012). Re-emergence of Rift Valley Fever virus in Barkedji (Senegal, West Africa) in 2002–2003: identification of new vectors and epidemiological implications. *Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association*, 28(3), 170–178.
- Bajardi, P., Barrat, A., Savini, L., and Colizza, V. (2012). Optimizing surveillance for livestock disease spreading through animal movements. *Journal of the Royal Society, Interface*, *9*(76), 2814–2825.
- Bala, A., Muhammad, L. U., Dachin, P. K., Saulawa, M. A., Anzaku, S. A., Abdullahi, A., Samuel, P., and Ifende, V. I. (2012). Participatory surveillance of livestock and poultry diseases in Agidi development area of Nasarawa state Nigeria. *Scientific Journal of Veterinary Advances*, 1, 38–41.
- Balança, G., and Hars, J. (2004). Bird reservoirs and indicators of the West Nile fever in France. *Game and Wildlife* Science, *21*(4), 539-551.
- Bartels, C. J. M., van Schaik, G., and Kock, P. (2011). Validity assessment of the cattle health surveillance system in the Netherlands. *Epidémiologie et Santé Animale*, *59-60*, 308–311.
- Bayot, B., Sonnenholzner, S., Ochoa, X., Guerrerro, J., Vera, T., Calderón, J., De Blas, I., Cornejo-Grunauer, M. del P., Stern, S., and Ollevier, F. (2008). An online operational alert system for the early detection of shrimp epidemics at the regional level based on real-time production. *Aquaculture*, 277(3-4), 164–173.



- Boadella, M., Díez-Delgado, I., Gutiérrez-Guzmán, A. V., Höfle, U., and Gortázar, C. (2012). Do wild ungulates allow improved monitoring of flavivirus circulation in Spain? *Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases*, *12*(6), 490–495.
- Broil, S., Wefflauferl, U., Schwickertl, S., and Arnspergerl, K. (2011). Establishing an additional surveillance system for the control of classical swine fever (CSF) in domestic pigs in Rhineland-Palatinate , Germany. *Epidémiologie et Santé Animale*, *59-60*, 98–99.
- Brown, E. B. E., Adkin, A., Fooks, A. R., Stephenson, B., Medlock, J. M., and Snary, E. L. (2012). Assessing the risks of West Nile virus-infected mosquitoes from transatlantic aircraft: implications for disease emergence in the United Kingdom. *Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases*, 12(4), 310–320.
- Bryan, H. M., Darimont, C. T., Paquet, P. C., Ellis, J. A., Goji, N., Gouix, M., Smits, J. E. (2011). Exposure to infectious agents in dogs in remote coastal British Columbia: possible sentinels of diseases in wildlife and humans. *The Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research*, 75, 11–17.
- Buscaglia, C., Espinosa, C., Terrera, M. V, and de Benedetti, R. (2007). Avian Influenza Surveillance in Backyard Poultry of Argentina. *Avian Diseases*, *51*(4), 467–469.
- Capelli, G., Drago, A., Martini, S., Montarsi, F., Soppelsa, M., Delai, N., Ravagnan, S., Mazzon, L., Schaffner, F., Mathis, A., di Luca, M., Romi, R., and Russo, F. (2011). First report in Italy of the exotic mosquito species *Aedes* (*Finlaya*) *koreicus*, a potential vector of arboviruses and filariae. *Parasites & Vectors*, 4(1), 188. doi:10.1186/1756-3305-4-188
- Carpenter, T. E., Chrièl, M., and Greiner, M. (2007). An analysis of an early-warning system to reduce abortions in dairy cattle in Denmark incorporating both financial and epidemiologic aspects. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, *78*(1), 1–11.
- Comin, A., Stegeman, A., Marangon, S., and Klinkenberg, D. (2012). Evaluating surveillance strategies for the early detection of low pathogenicity avian influenza infections. *PLoS ONE*, 7(4), e35956. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0035956
- Conte, a, Colangeli, P., Ippoliti, C., Paladini, C., Ambrosini, M., Savini, L., Dall'Acqua, F., and Calistri, P. (2005). The use of a web-based interactive geographical information system for the surveillance of bluetongue in Italy. *Revue scientifique et technique (International Office of Epizootics)*, 24(3), 857–868.
- Cowen, P., Garland, T., Hugh-Jones, M. E., Shimshony, A., Handysides, S., Kaye, D., Madoff, L. C., Pollack, M. P., and Woodall, J. (2006). Evaluation of ProMED-mail as an electronic early warning system for emerging animal diseases: 1996 to 2004. *Journal of Veterinary American Medical Association*, 229(7), 1090-1099.
- Cummings, K. J., Warnick, L. D., Elton, M., Rodriguez-Rivera, L. D., Siler, J. D., Wright, E. M., Gröhn, Y. T., and Wiedmann, M. (2010). Salmonella enterica serotype Cerro among dairy cattle in New York: an emerging pathogen? *Foodborne Pathogens and Disease*, *7*(6), 659–65.
- De Clercq, K., Mertens, P., De Leeuw, I., Oura, C., Houdart, P., Potgieter, A. C., Maan, S., Hooyberghs, J., Batten, C., Vandemeulebroucke, E., Wright, I. M., Maan, N., Riocreux, F., Sanders, A., Vanderstede, Y., Nomikou, K., Raemaekers, M., Bin-Tarif, A., Shaw, A., Henstock, M., Bréard, E., Dubois, E., Gastaldi-Thiéry, C., Zientara, S., Verheyden, B., and Vandenbussche, F. (2009). Emergence of bluetongue serotypes in Europe, part 2: the occurrence of a BTV-11 strain in Belgium. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, *56*, 355–361.
- Donahue, B. C., Petrowski, H. M., Melkonian, K., Ward, G. B., Mayr, G. A, and Metwally, S. (2012). Analysis of clinical samples for early detection of classical swine fever during infection with low, moderate, and highly virulent strains in relation to the onset of clinical signs. *Journal of Virological Methods*, 179(1), 108–15.
- Dórea, F. C., Sanchez, J., and Revie, C. W. (2011). Veterinary syndromic surveillance: current initiatives and potential for development. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, *101*(1-2), 1–17.



- Dórea, F. C., Muckle, C. A., Kelton, D., McEwen, B. J., Mcnab, W. B., Sanchez, J., and Revie, C. (2011). Syndromic surveillance using veterinary laboratory diagnostic test requests. *Epidémiologie et Santé Animale*, *59-60*, 128–130.
- Eidson, M., Komar, N., Sorhage, F., Nelson, R., Talbot, T., Mostashari, F., McLean, R., and the West Nile Virus Avian Mortality Surveillance Group (2001). Crow deaths as a sentinel surveillance system for West Nile virus in the northeastern United States, 1999. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 7(4), 615–620.
- Ely, E. R., Nicholson, R. E., Snow, L. C., Strugnell, B. W., Williamson, S. M., Milnes, A. S., Watson, E. N., Hoinville, L. J. (2012). Evaluation of methods for measuring coverage and representativeness of an early-warning disease surveillance system. *Veterinary Record*, 171(17), 423. doi:10.1136/vr.100854
- European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) (2009). Scientific opinion on epizootic hemorrhagic disease. *EFSA Journal*, 7(12), 1418.
- European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) (2012). Assessment of different monitoring strategies for early detection of FMD incursion in a free wild boar population area: a simulation modelling approach. *EFSA Journal*, *10* (4), 2656.
- Forbes, R. N., Sanson, R. L., and Morris, R. S. (1994). Application of subjective methods to the determination of the likelihood and consequences of the entry of foot-and-mouth disease into New Zealand. *New Zealand Veterinary Journal*, 42(3), 81-88.
- García-Bocanegra, I., Arenas-Montes, A., Jaén-Téllez, J. A., Napp, S., Fernández-Morente, M., and Arenas, A. (2012). Use of sentinel serosurveillance of mules and donkeys in the monitoring of West Nile virus infection. *Veterinary Journal*, *194*(2), 262–264.
- Giovannini, A., Calistri, P., Conte, A., Savini, L., Nannini, D., Patta, C., Santucci, U., Caporale, V. (2004). Bluetongue virus surveillance in a newly infected area. *Veterinaria Italiana*, *40*(3), 188–197.
- Globig, A., Baumer, A., Revilla-Fernández, S., Beer, M., Wodak, E., Fink, M., Greber, N., Harder, T. C., Wilking, H., Brunhart, I., Matthes, D., Kraatz, U., Strunk, P., Fiedler, W., Fereidouni, S. R., Staubach, C., Conraths, F. J., Griot, C., Mettenleiter, T. C., and Stärk, K. D. C. (2009). Ducks as sentinels for avian influenza in wild birds. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, *15*(10), 1633–1636.
- Goffredo, M., Buttigieg, M., Meiswinkel, R., Delécolle, J.-C., and Chircop, S. (2004). Entomological surveillance for bluetongue on Malta: first report of *Culicoides imicola* Kieffer. *Veterinaria Italiana*, *40*(3), 278–281.
- Gonzales, J. L., Elbers, A. R. W., Stegeman, A. A., and de Koeijer, A. A: (2011). A sero-surveillance programme for early detection of low pathogenic avian influenza outbreaks in layer chickens. *Epidémiologie et Santé Animale*, 59-60, 161–162.
- Gosselin, P., Lebel, G., Rivest, S., and Douville-Fradet, M. (2005). The Integrated System for Public Health Monitoring of West Nile Virus (ISPHM-WNV): a real-time GIS for surveillance and decision-making. International Journal of Health Geographics, 4, 21. doi:10.1186/1476-072X-4-21
- Goutard, F. L., Paul, M., Tavornpanich, S., Houisse, I., Chanachai, K., Thanapongtharm, W., Cameron, A., Stärk, K. D. C., and Roger, F. (2012). Optimizing early detection of avian influenza H5N1 in backyard and free-range poultry production systems in Thailand. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, *105*(3), 223–234.
- Gubernot, D. M., Boyer, B. L., and Moses, M. S. (2008). Animals as early detectors of bioevents: veterinary tools and a framework for animal-human integrated zoonotic disease surveillance. *Public Health Reports*, *123*(3), 300–15.
- Hadorn, D. C., and Stärk, K. D. C. (2008). Evaluation and optimization of surveillance systems for rare and emerging infectious diseases. *Veterinary Research*, *39*(6), 1–12.
- Hendrikx, P., Gay, E., Chazel, M., Moutou, F., Danan, C., Richomme, C., Boue, F., Souillard, R., Gauchard, F., Dufour, B. (2011). OASIS: an assessment tool of epidemiological surveillance systems in animal health and food safety. *Epidemiology and Infection*, *139*(10), 1486–1496.



- Hernández-Jover, M., Cogger, N., Martin, P. A. J., Schembri, N., Holyoake, P. K., and Toribio, J. A. L. M.
 L. (2011). Evaluation of post-farm-gate passive surveillance in swine for the detection of foot and mouth disease in Australia. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, *100*(3-4), 171–186.
- Hyder, K., Vidal-Diez, A., Lawes, J., Sayers, A. R., Milnes, A., Hoinville, L., and Cook, A. J. C. (2011). Use of spatiotemporal analysis of laboratory submission data to identify potential outbreaks of new or emerging diseases in cattle in Great Britain. *BMC Veterinary Research*, 7(1), 14. doi:10.1186/1746-6148-7-14
- Iannetti, S., Savini, L., Palma, D., Calistri, P., Natale, F., and Giovannini, A. (2011). An integrated web system to support veterinary activities related to the management of information in epidemic emergencies. *Epidémiologie et Santé Animale*, 59-60, 49–51.
- Kloeze, H., Mukhi, S., Kitching, P., Lees, V. W., and Alexandersen, S. (2010). Effective animal health disease surveillance using a network-enabled approach. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, 57(6), 414–419.
- Kosmider, R. D., Kelly, L., Simons, R. L., Brouwer, A., and David, G. (2011). Detecting new and emerging diseases on livestock farms using an early detection system. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 139(10), 1476–1485.
- Leblond, A., Hendrikx, P., and Sabatier, P. (2007). West Nile virus outbreak detection using syndromic monitoring in horses. *Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases*, 7(3), 403–410.
- Lelli, R., Calistri, P., Bruno, R., Monaco, F., Savini, G., Di Sabatino, D., Corsi, I., and Pascucci, I. (2012). West Nile transmission in resident birds in Italy. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, *59*(5), 421–8.
- Linthicum, K. J., Anyamba, A., Britch, S. C., Chretien, J. P., Erickson, R. L., Small, J., Trucker, C. J., Bennet, K. E., Mayer, R. T., Schmidtmann, E. T., Andreadis, T.G., Anderson, J. F., Wilson, W. C., Freier, J. E., James, A. M., Miller, R. S., Drolet, B. S., Miller, S. N., Tedrow, C. A., Bailey, C. L., Strickman, D. A., Barnard, D. R., Clark, G. G., and Zou, L. (2007). A Rift Valley fever risk surveillance system for Africa using remotely sensed data: potential for use on other continents. *Veterinaria Italiana*, *43*(3), 663–674.
- Liu, C.-H., Lin, S.-H., Chen, Y.-C., Lin, K. C.-M., Wu, T.-S. J., and King, C.-C. (2007). Temperature drops and the onset of severe avian influenza A H5N1 virus outbreaks. *PLoS ONE*, 2(2), 4–8.
- Ludwig, A., Bigras-Poulin, M., Michel, P., and Bélanger, D. (2010). Risk factors associated with West Nile virus mortality in American crow populations in southern Quebec. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, *46*(1), 195–208.
- Lupo, C., Mandard, Y. V, Arzull, I., Francois, C., Garcia, C., Renault, T., and Bareille, N. (2011). Space-time clustering of mortality notifications in Pacific oysters of Charente sluices, France, 2008-2010. *Epidémiologie et Santé Animale*, 59-60, 166-168.
- Lutz, J., Molla, B., Silveira, F., Gebreyes, W., and Lutz, E. A. (2011). Using infrared thermal imaging for mass screening of production animals for early detection of febrile diseases. *Epidémiologie et Santé Animale*, 59-60, 169–170.
- Lv, S., Zhang, Y., Liu, H.-Y., Hu, L., Yang, K., Steinmann, P., Chen, Z., Wang, L.Y., Utzinger, J., and Zhou, X.N. (2009). Invasive snails and an emerging infectious disease: results from the first national survey on *Angiostrongylus cantonensis* in China. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 3(2), 1–8.
- Makgatho, C. N., McCrindle, C. M. E., and Owen, J. H. (2005). Participatory rural appraisal to investigate constraints in reporting cattle mortalities in the Odi district of North West Province, South Africa. *Journal of South Africa Veterinary Association*, *76*(4), 209–213.
- Malladi, S., Weaver, J. T., Clouse, T. L., Bjork, K. E., and Darrell, W. (2011). Moving-average trigger for early detection of rapidly increasing mortality in caged table-egg layers. *Avian Diseases*, *55*(4), 603– 610.



- Marfin, A. A., Petersen, L. R., Eidson, M., Miller, J., Hadler, J., Farello, C., Werner, B., Campbell, G. L., Layton, M., Smith, P., Bresnitz, E., Cartter, M., Scaletta, J., Obiri, G., Bunning, M., Craven, R. C., Roehrig, J. T., Julian, K. G., Hinten, S. R., Gubler, D. J., and ArboNET Cooperative Surveillance Group (2001). Widespread West Nile virus activity, eastern United States, 2000. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 7(4), 730-765.
- Mariner, J. C., Hussein, M., Afzal, M., Raja, R. H., Ali, Q., Roeder, P., and Taylor, W. P. (1998). Institutionalization of participatory disease surveillance in Pakistan. *Tropicultura*, 47–52.
- Maroney, S. A., McCool, M. J., Geter, K. D., and James, A. M. (2007). The evolution of internet-based map server applications in the United States Department of Agriculture, Veterinary Services. *Veterinaria Italiana*, 43(3), 723–730.
- Martin, V., de Simone, L., Lubroth, J., Ceccato, P., and Chevalier, V. (2007). Perspectives on using remotely-sensed imagery in predictive veterinary epidemiology and global early warning systems. *Veterinaria Italiana*, *2*(1), 3–14.
- Martínez, M., Muñoz, M. J., de la Torre, A., Martínez, B., Iglesias, I., Sánchez-Vizcaíno, J. M. (2007). Risk assessment applied to Spain's prevention strategy against highly pathogenic avian influenza virus H5N1. *Avian Diseases*, *51*(8), 507–511.
- Martinez, M., Perez, A. M., de la Torre, A., Iglesias, I., Sánchez-Vizcaíno, J. M., and Muñoz, M. J. (2011). Evaluating surveillance in wild birds by the application of risk assessment of avian influenza introduction into Spain. *Epidemiology and Infection*, *139*(1), 91–98.
- Mehlhorn, H., Walldorf, V., Klimpel, S., Schaub, G., Kiel, E., Focke, R., Liebisch, G., Werner, D., Bauer, C., Clausen, H., Bauer, B., Geier, M., Hörbrand, T., Bätza, H.-J., Conraths, F. J., Hoffmann, B., and Beer, M. (2009). Bluetongue disease in Germany (2007-2008): monitoring of entomological aspects. *Parasitology Research*, *105*(2), 313–319.
- Meiswinkel, R., Baldet, T., de Deken, R., Takken, W., Delécolle, J.-C., and Mellor, P. S. (2008). The 2006 outbreak of bluetongue in northern Europe The entomological perspective. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, *87*, 55–63.
- Menzies, F. D., Burns, K., Fallows, J. G., McKeown, I. M., Gloster, J., Burgin, L., Courcier, E. A., McNamee, P. T., Robinson, J., Robinson, P. A., McNeilly, F., and Abernethy, D. A. (2011). Risk assessment, targeted surveillance and policy formulation : practical experiences with bluetongue. *Epidémiologie et Santé Animale*, 59-60, 113–115.
- Mintiens, K., Litiere, S., Faes, C., Houdart, P., Aerts, M., and Vose, D. (2011). Feasibility of applying syndrome surveillance algorithms to animal health and production data to improve emerging animal disease surveillance. *Epidémiologie et Santé Animale*, 59-60, 171–173.
- Mostashari, F., Kulldorff, M., Hartman, J. J., Miller, J. R., and Kulasekera, V. (2003). Dead bird clusters as an early warning system for West Nile virus activity. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, *9*(6), 641–646.
- Mur, L., Martínez-López, B., Martínez-Avilés, M., Costard, S., Wieland, B., Pfeiffer, D. U., and Sánchez-Vizcaíno, J. M. (2012). Quantitative risk assessment for the introduction of African swine fever virus into the European Union by legal import of live pigs. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, 59, 134– 144.
- Nwankiti, O. O., Ikeh, E. I., Asala, O., and Seuberlich, T. (2012). A pilot study for targeted surveillance of bovine spongiform encephalopathy in Nigeria. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, doi:10.1111/j.1865-1682.2012.01340.x.
- Odoi, A., Carter, C. N., Riley, J. W., Smith, J. L., and Dwyer, R. M. (2001). Application of an automated surveillance data-analysis system in a laboratory-based early-warning system for detection of an abortion outbreak in mares. *American Journal of Veterinary Research*, *70*(2), 247-256.
- Ogden, N. H., Bouchard, C., Kurtenbach, K., Margos, G., Lindsay, L. R., Trudel, L., Nguon, S., Milord, F. (2010). Active and passive surveillance and phylogenetic analysis of *Borrelia burgdorferi* elucidate the process of Lyme disease risk emergence in Canada. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *118* (7), 909–914.



- Ogden, N. H., St-onge, L., Barker, I. K., Brazeau, S., Bigras-Poulin, M., Charron, D. F., Francis, C. M., Heagy, A., Lindsay, L. R., Maarouf, A., Michel, P., Milord, F., OjCallaghan, C. J., Trudel, L., and Thopmson, R. A. (2008). Risk maps for range expansion of the Lyme disease vector, *Ixodes scapularis*, in Canada now and with climate change. *International Journal of Health Geographics*, *7*, 24. doi:10.1186/1476-072X-7-24
- Ogundipe, G. A. T. (2002). The roles of veterinay quarantine services in monitoring the movements of animals and disease prevention in Nigeria. *Nigerian Veterinary Journal*, 23(1), 1-15.
- Ortiz-Pelaez, A., and Pfeiffer, D. U. (2008). Use of data mining techniques to investigate disease risk classification as a proxy for compromised biosecurity of cattle herds in Wales. *BMC Veterinary Research*, *4*, 24. doi:10.1186/1746-6148-4-24
- O'Sullivan, T. L., Friendship, R. M., Pearl, D. L., McEwen, B., and Dewey, C. E. (2012). Identifying an outbreak of a novel swine disease using test requests for porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome as a syndromic surveillance tool. *BMC Veterinary Research*, *8*(1), 1. doi:10.1186/1746-6148-8-192
- Ouagal, M., Hendrikx, P., Saegerman, C., and Berkvens, D. (2010). Comparison between active and passive surveillance within the network of epidemiological surveillance of animal diseases in Chad. *Acta Tropica*, *116*(2), 147–151.
- Pan, L., Qin, L., Yang, S. X., and Shuai, J. (2008). A neural network-based method for risk factor analysis of West Nile virus. *Risk Analysis*, 28(2), 487-496.
- Perrin, J.-B., Ducrot, C., Vinard, J.-L., Morignat, E., Calavas, D., and Hendrikx, P. (2012). Assessment of the utility of routinely collected cattle census and disposal data for syndromic surveillance. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 105(3), 244–252.
- Peyre, M., Hendrikx, P., Thanh, H. P. T., Huu, D. D., Goutard, F., Desvaux, S., and Roger, F. (2011). Evaluation of surveillance systems in animal health: the need to adapt the tools to the contexts of developing countries, results from a regional workshop in South East Asia. *Epidémiologie et Santé Animale*, 59-60, 415–417.
- Pfeiffer, D., Robinson, T., Stevenson, M., Stevens, K., Rogers, D., and Clements, A. (2008). Spatial Analysis in Epidemiology. Oxford University Press, 155 pp. ISBN: 978-0-19-850988-2 (Hbk.) 978-0-19-850989-9 (Pbk.)
- Phoutrides, E., Jusino-Mendez, T., Perez-Medina, T., Seda-Lozada, R., Garcia-Negron, M., Davila-Toro, F., and Hunsperger, E. (2011). The utility of animal surveillance in the detection of West Nile virus activity in Puerto Rico, 2007. Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases, 11(4), 447–450.
- Pinto, J., Lockhart, C., von Dobschuetz, S., and Hamilton-West, C. (2011). An integrated tool for global disease surveillance early warning and disease control, *Epidémiologie et Santé Animale*, 59-60, 52–54.
- Pultorak, E., Nadler, Y., Travis, D., Glaser, A., Mcnamara, T., and Mehta, S. D. (2011). Zoological institution participation in a West Nile virus surveillance system: implications for public health. *Public Health*, *125*(9), 592–599.
- Purse, B. V., Nedelchev, N., Georgiev, G., Veleva, E., Boorman, J., Denison, E., Veronesi, E., Carpenter, S., Baylis, M., and Mellor, P. S. (2006). Spatial and temporal distribution of bluetongue and its *Culicoides* vectors in Bulgaria. *Medical and Veterinary Entomology*, 20, 335–344.
- Rabinowitz, P., Gordon, Z., Chudnov, D., Wilcox, M., Odofin, L., Liu, A., and Dein, J. (2006). Animals as sentinels of bioterrorism agents. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 12(4), 647–652.
- Racloz, V., Straver, R., Kuhn, M., Thur, B., Vanzetti, T., Stärk, K. D. C., Griot, C., and Cagienard, A. (2006). Establishment of an early warning system against bluetongue virus in Switzerland. *Schweizer Archiv für Tierheilkunde*, 148(11), 593–598.



- Racloz, V., Presi, P., Vounatsou, P., Schwermer, H., Casati, S., Tullio, V., Griot, C., Stärk, K. D. C. (2007). Use of mapping and statistical modelling for the prediction of bluetongue occurrence in Switzerland based on vector biology. *Veterinaria Italiana*, 43(3), 513–518.
- Racloz, V, Venter, G., Griot, C., and Stärk, K. D. C. (2008). Estimating the temporal and spatial risk of bluetongue related to the incursion of infected vectors into Switzerland. *BMC Veterinary Research*, *10*, 1–10.
- Radaellii, M. C., Chiavacci, L., Vignetta, P., Modal, G., and Vitale, N. (2011). How to deal with an emerging vector-borne disease when it broke into a free area: the experience of bluetongue (BT) surveillance in Piedmont region. *Epidémiologie et Santé Animale*, 59-60, 179–181.
- Recuenco, S., Blanton, J. D., & Rupprecht, C. E. (2012). A spatial model to forecast raccoon rabies emergence. *Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases*, *12*(2), 126–37.
- Reisen, A. W. K., Lothrop, H. D., Chiles, R. E., Cusack, R., Green, E. N., Fang, Y., and Kensington, M. (2002). Persistence and amplification of St. Louis encephalitis virus in the Coachella valley of California, 2000-2001. *Journal of Medical Entomology*, *39*(5), 793–805.
- Robertson, C., Sawford, K., Daniel, S. L. A., Nelson, T. A., and Stephen, C. (2010). Mobile phone-based infectious disease surveillance system, Sri Lanka. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, *16*(10), 1524-1531.
- Robertson, C., Sawford, K., Gunawardana, W. S. N., Nelson, T. A., Nathoo, F., and Stephen, C. (2011). A hidden Markov Model for analysis of Frontline veterinary data for emerging zoonotic disease surveillance. *PLoS ONE*, 6(9), e24833. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0024833
- Rockx, B., Van Asten, L., Van den Wijngaard, C., Godeke, G. J., Goehring, L., Vennema, H., Van der Avoort, H., Van Pelt, W., Koopmans, M. (2012). Syndromic surveillance in the Neteherlands for the early detection of West Nile virus epidemics. *Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases*, 6(2), 161-169.
- Rodríguez-Prieto, V., Martínez-López, B., Martínez, M., Muñoz, M. J., and Sánchez-Vizcaíno, J. M. (2012). Identification of suitable areas for West Nile virus outbreaks in equid populations for application in surveillance plans: the example of the Castile and Leon region of Spain. *Epidemiology and Infection*, *140*(9), 1617-1631.
- Saegerman, C., Porter, S. R., & Humblet, M. (2011). The use of modelling to evaluate and adapt strategies for animal disease control. *Revue scientifique et technique (International Office of Epizootics)*, *30*(2), 555–569.
- Sanchez-Vazquez, M. J., Strachan, W. D., Armstrong, D., Nielen, M., and Gunn, G. J. (2011). The British pig health schemes: integrated systems for large-scale pig abattoir lesion monitoring. *Veterinary Record*, *169*, 413. doi: 10.1136/vr.d4814.
- Sanson, R. L., and Thornton, R. N. (1997). A modelling approach to the quantification of the benefits of a national surveillance programme. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, *30*, 37–47.
- Savini, G., Monaco, F., Terregino, C., di Gennaro, A., Bano, L., Pinoni, C., de Nardi, R., Bonilauri, P., Pecorari M., di Gialleonardo, L., Bonfanti, L., Polci, A., Calistri, P., and Lelli, R. (2011). Usutu virus in Italy: an emergence or a silent infection? *Veterinary Microbiology*, 151(3-4), 264–274.
- Schuler, K. L., Green, D. E., Justice-Allen, A. E., Jaffe, R., Cunningham, M., Thomas, N. J., Spalding, M. G., and Ip, H. S. (2012). Expansion of an exotic species and concomitant disease outbreaks: pigeon paramyxovirus in free-ranging Eurasian collared doves. *EcoHealth*, 9(2), 163–170.
- Scotch, M, Rabinowitz, P., and Brandt, C. (2011). State-level zoonotic disease surveillance in the United States. *Zoonoses and Public Health*, *58*, 523–528.
- Scotch, Matthew, Odofin, L., and Rabinowitz, P. (2009). Linkages between animal and human health sentinel data. *BMC Veterinary Research*, *9*, 1–9.
- Shimoda, H., Ohno, Y., Mochizuki, M., Iwata, H., Okuda, M., and Maeda, K. (2010). Dogs as sentinels for human infection with Japanese encephalitis virus. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, *16*(7), 1137-1139.



- Shuai, J., Buck, P., Chevalier, C., and Sockett, P. (2007). Development of a geographic information-driven real-time surveillance system for disease surveillance. *Veterinaria Italiana*, *43*(6), 451–461.
- Slavec, B., Krapez, U., Racnik, J., Hari, A., Wernig, J. M., Dovc, A., Zadravec, M., Lindtner-Knific, R., Marhold, C., and Zorman-Rojs, O. (2012). Surveillance of influenza A viruses in wild birds in Slovenia from 2006 to 2010. Avian Diseases, 56, 999–1005.
- Smith, K. M., Anthony, S. J., Switzer, W. M., Epstein, J. H., Seimon, T., Jia, H., Sanchez, M. D., Huynh, T. T., Galland, G. G., Shapiro, S. E., Sleeman, J. M., McAloose, D., Stuchin, M., Amato, G., Kolokotronis, S. O., Lipkin, W. I., Karesh, W. B., Daszak, P., and Marano, N. (2012). Zoonotic viruses associated with illegally imported wildlife products. *PLoS ONE*, *7*(1), e29505.
- Snow, L. C., Newson, S. E., Musgrove, A. J., Cranswick, P. A., Crick, H. Q. P., and Wilesmith, J. W. (2007). Risk-based surveillance for H5N1 avian influenza virus in wild birds in Great Britain. *Veterinary Record*, 161, 775-781.
- Soumare, B., Tempia, S., Cagnolati, V., Mohamoud, A., van Huylenbroeck, G., and Berkvens, D. (2007). Screening for Rift Valley fever infection in northern Somalia: a GIS based survey method to overcome the lack of sampling frame. *Veterinary Microbiology*, *121*, 249–256.
- Souza Monteiro, D. M., Carrasco, L. R., Moffitt, L. J., and Cook, A. J. C. (2012). Robust surveillance of animal diseases: an application to the detection of bluetongue disease. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, *105*(1-2), 17–24.
- Tachiiri, K., Klinkenberg, B., Mak, S., and Kazmi, J. (2006). Predicting outbreaks: a spatial risk assessment of West Nile virus in British Columbia. *International Journal of Health Geographics*, 21, 1–21.
- Thomas-Bachli, A. L., Pearl, D. L., Friendship, R. M., and Berke, O. (2012). Suitability and limitations of portion-specific abattoir data as part of an early warning system for emerging diseases of swine in Ontario. *BMC Veterinary Research*, 8(1), 3. doi:10.1186/1746-6148-8-3
- Thrush, M. A., Dunn, P. L., and Peeler, E. J. (2012). Monitoring emerging diseases of fish and shellfish using electronic sources. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, *59*, 385–394.
- Thrush, M. A., and Peeler, E. J. (2012). A model to approximate lake temperature from gridded daily air temperature records and its application in risk assessment for the establishment of fish diseases in the UK. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, doi:10.1111/j.1865-1682.2012.01368.x
- Van den Hurk, A. F., Hall-Mendelin, S., Johansen, C. A., Warrilow, D., and Ritchie, S. A. (2012). Evolution of mosquito-based arbovirus surveillance systems in Australia. *Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology*, 2012. doi:10.1155/2012/325659
- Van Metre, D. C., Barkey, D. Q., Salman, M. D., and Morley, P. S. (2009). Development of a syndromic surveillance system for detection of disease among livestock entering an auction market. *Journal of American Veterinary Medical Association*, 234(5), 658-664.
- Veldhuis, A., Barnouin, J., van der Stede, Y., Ren, L., and Dispas, M. (2011). The Belgian MoSS : A monitoring and surveillance system for the early detection and identification of (re-) emerging animal diseases. *Epidémiologie et Santé Animale*, 59-60, 190–192.
- Verdugo, C., Cardona, C. J., and Carpenter, T. E. (2009). Simulation of an early warning system using sentinel birds to detect a change of a low pathogenic avian influenza virus (LPAIV) to high pathogenic avian influenza virus (HPAIV). *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, *88*, 109–119.
- Vourc, G., Bridges, V. E., Gibbens, J., de Groot, B. D., McIntyre, L., Poland, R., and Barnouin, J. (2006). Detecting emerging diseases in farm animals through clinical observations. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 12(2), 204–210.
- Walker, J. G., Ogola, E., and Knobel, D. (2011). Piloting mobile phone-based syndromic surveillance of livestock diseases in Kenya. *Epidémiologie et Santé Animale*, *59-60*, 19–21.



- Ward, M. P., Flanagan, M., Carpenter, T. E., Hird, D. W., Thurmond, M. C., Johnson, S. J., and Dashorst, M. E. (1995). Infection of cattle with bluetongue viruses in Queensland, Australia: results of a sentinel herd study, 1990-1992. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 45(94), 35-44.
- Warns-Petit, E., Morignat, E., Artois, M., and Calavas, D. (2010). Unsupervised clustering of wildlife necropsy data for syndromic surveillance. *BMC Veterinary Research*, 6(1), 56. doi:10.1186/1746-6148-6-56
- Weber, W. D., Akkina, J. E., Cox, D. C., Johnson, C. L., Remmenga, M. D., Ross, G. S., Scott, A. E., and Thompson, A. (2011). Development of an animal health monitoring system based on abattoir condemnation data. *Epidémiologie et Santé Animale*, *59-60*, 131–133.
- Wilking, H., Ziller, M., Staubach, C., Globig, A., Harder, T. C., and Conraths, F. J. (2009). Chances and limitations of wild bird monitoring for the avian influenza virus H5N1--detection of pathogens highly mobile in time and space. *PLoS ONE*, *4*(8), e6639. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0006639
- Willeberg, P., Nielsen, L. R., and Salman, M. (2012). Designing and evaluating risk-based surveillance systems: potential unwarranted effects of applying adjusted risk estimates. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 105(3), 185–194.
- Ziegler, U., Seidowski, D., Globig, A., Fereidouni, S. R., Ulrich, R. G., and Groschup, M. H. (2010). Sentinel birds in wild-bird resting sites as potential indicators for West Nile virus infections in Germany. *Archives of Virology*, 155(6), 965–969.
- Ziegler U, Seidowski D, Angenvoort J, Eiden M, Müller K, Nowitny N, Groschup RH (2012). Monitoring of West Nile Virus infections in Germany. *Zoonoses and Public Health*, *59*(2), 95-101.



ANNEX II. List of variables for the literature review of surveillance approaches for early detection

| Table | Name of the variable | Data type | Description | Comment |
|-------------------|----------------------------------|-----------|--|---|
| ID | ID | AutoID | Unique identifier for the paper | |
| | Reviewer | Character | Name of the person that made the article review | |
| | Title | Character | Title of the article | |
| ARTICLE GENERAL | Author(s) | Character | Author(s) of the article | |
| INFORMATION | Type of paper | Character | Describe the category of the article | Choose between "SCI article", "SCI review", "Oral communication", "Poster" or "Report" |
| | Year of publication | Numeric | Year of publication of the article | |
| | Disease/threat - general | Character | Name of the disease(s) category in which the article focuses on | Indicate "several diseases" when the article focuses on several diseases |
| | Disease/threat - specific | Character | Name of the specific disease(s) in which the article focuses on | Specify diseases |
| | Disease status in the study area | Character | Describe the disease status in the study area | Choose between "Endemic", "Emerging", "Exotic", "Suspected", "Not applicable (NA)" or "No data(ND)" |
| | Target species | Character | Describe the animal species in which the article focuses on | |
| | Human involved (zoonosis) | Yes/No | Describe if the target disease is zoonotic | |
| REVIEW OF METHODS | Continent | Character | Name of the continent(s) where the study area is located | |
| CURRENTLY APPLIED | Country/ies | Character | Name of the country(ies) where the study area is located | |
| | Region/s | Character | Name of the region(s) where the study area is located | |
| | Time frame | Date | Specify the period of time when the study took place | Provide date in YYYY/MM/DD-YYYY/MM/DD format |
| | Spatial/Temporal evolution | Character | Specify whether there has been changes mentioned in the article in spatial and temporal components in the method(s)/approach(es) described | For example: Arbovirus surveillance has evoluted in California: (1) monthly testing of sera from 2 flocks of sentinel chickens and sporadic virus isolation attempts from <i>Culex</i> mosquitoes collected from riparian and park habitants; (2) surveillance activities were expanded to include additional park sites and representative residential areas; and (3) n Orange County surveillance was also supplemented by monitoring to SLE virus in wild bird community |



| Table | Name of the variable | Data type | Description | Comment |
|--|-------------------------------|------------------|--|--|
| | Risk-based method | Yes/No | Specify whether the method(s)/approach(es) is (are) described in the article risk-based? | |
| | Risk-based category | Character (list) | | Choose between "RB prioritisation", "RB requirement", "RB sampling", "RB analysis", or combination of these |
| | Risk factors | Character | Described the risk factors considered in the article | For example: Risk of entrance of EHDV by three possible entry pathways |
| | Type of approach - general | Character | Specify the general type of surveillance | Choose between "Active", "Passive", "Method" or combination |
| | Type of approach - specific | Character | Specify the specific type of surveillance | Choose between one of the specific categories (see "Material and methods – Study selection and data extraction – Variable extraction", pages 12-13) |
| | Type of approach - detailed | Character | Describe the type of surveillance | Briefly described the type of approach(es) used |
| | Data source | Character | Describe the type of data | Choose between "Primary" (data obtained in the study), "Secondary" (external data used in the study) or "Primary and secondary" |
| REVIEW OF METHODS CURRENTLY APPLIED | Surveillance nature | Character | Specify the nature of surveillance in terms of target hazard | Choose between "General", "Multi-objective" or "Single" |
| | Aim(s) of the study | Character | Describe the aim(s) of the article | |
| | Aim defined? | Yes/No | Is the objective clearly defined? | |
| | New technologies affecting SS | Character | Describe the new technologies affecting surveillance systems used in the article | |
| | Data management | Character | Does the article describe real data obtained or does it perform simulation of data? | Choose between "Real data", "Simulation" or "Real data and simulation" |
| | Sample size | Character | Indicate sample size | |
| | Sample unit - general | Character | Indicate sample unit | Choose between "Individuals", "Herds", "Holdings", "Several" (when the article focuses on several units) and "Other" (if the unit is not contained in any of the former categories) |
| | Sample unit - specific | Character | Specify sample unit for "Several" and "Other" categories | |
| | Pooled samples | Yes/No | Are the samples pooled? | |
| | Sampling method | Character | Describe the sampling method or the way of data collection 42 | |



| Table | Name of the variable | Data type | Description | Comment |
|---|---|---------------------------|--|---|
| | Sampling scheme | Character | Describe the sampling scheme | If applicable |
| | Tests used | Character | Describe the diagnostic test used | If applicable |
| | Surveillance results | Character | Describe the main results of the article | |
| REVIEW OF METHODS CURRENTLY APPLIED | Method for analysis | Character | Describe the statistical methods to analyse the data obtained in the article | |
| | Standard legislation | Character | Indicate the legislation mentioned in the article | If applicable |
| | Benefits | Character | Describe the benefits mentioned in the article regarding the method(s)/approach(es) described | |
| | Time to detection | Character | Describe the time necessary to detect the disease/threat using the method(s)/approach(es) described in the article | |
| COST-EFFECTIVENESS OF CURRENT SURVEILLANCE METHODS FOR EARLY | Personal / material / economic resources | Character | Describe the personal/material/economic resources necessary to detect the disease/threat using the method(s)/approach(es) described in the article | |
| DETECTION | Total costs | Character | Describe the total costs necessary to detect the disease/threat using the method(s)/approach(es) described in the article | |
| CURRENT LIMITATIONS | Current limitations | Character | Describe the current limitations mentioned in the article regarding the method(s)/approach(es) described | |
| FUTURE PROSPECTS | Future prospects | Character | Describe the future prospects mentioned in the article regarding the method(s)/approach(es) described | |
| VALIDATION / EVALUATION | Validation / Evaluation | Character | Describe the method(s) used in the article to validate and/or evaluate the models developed | |
| | Exclusion | Yes/No | Should this article be excluded from the analysis? | |
| EXCLUDE | Reason | Character (predefined) | Provide reason(s) for the exclusion of the article | If applicable (see list on "Material and methods – Study selection and data extraction – Variable extraction", pages 11-12) |
| WP ADDITIONAL | WP | Character | Indicate which WP(s) are more suitable for the analysis of the article | If applicable |
| COMMENTS | Comments | Character | Provide further comments | If applicable |

